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FINANcIAL cALENDAR
(subject to change)

Date event

22 august 2006  Annual results and final dividend announced

28 august 2006 Ex–dividend share trading commenced 

01 September 2006 Record date for final dividend

19 october 2006 Final dividend paid

19 october 2006 Annual Review mailed to shareholders

20 november 2006 Annual general meeting for 2006

31 December 2006 Financial half–year ends

20 February 2007  Half–year results and interim dividend announced

05 March 2007 Ex–dividend share trading commences

09 March 2007 Record date for interim dividend

19 april 2007 Interim dividend paid

30 June 2007 Financial year ends

21 august 2007  Annual results and final dividend announced

10 September 2007 Ex–dividend share trading commences

14 September 2007 Record date for final dividend

18 october 2007 Final dividend paid

18 october 2007 Annual Review mailed to shareholders

19 november 2007 Annual general meeting for 2007

NOTIcE OF ANNuAL GENERAL mEETING
The 2006 annual general Meeting of oneSteel limited will be 
held at 2.30 pm, Monday 20 november 2006 at the City Recital 
Hall, angel Place, Sydney, nSw. a formal notice of Meeting 
accompanies this report. additional copies can be obtained from 
the company’s registered office or downloaded from the company’s 
website at www.onesteel.com
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Your directors submit their report for the year ended  
30 June 2006.

Directors
The following persons were directors of OneSteel Limited 
during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of 
this report unless stated otherwise:

P J Smedley P G Nankervis

R B Davis G J Plummer

E J Doyle D A Pritchard

C R Galbraith N J Roach

Details of the qualifications, experience and responsibilities 
of directors are set out on page 34 of the Annual Review.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the OneSteel Group are 
mining, steel manufacture, and steel and metal products 
distribution. Further details are set out on pages 4 to 33 
of the Annual Review. There were no significant changes in 
the nature of the principal activities of the OneSteel Group 
during the year under review.

Review of Operations
A review of the operations of the OneSteel Group during 
the financial year and the results of those operations is 
contained in pages 1 to 33 of the Annual Review.

Net profit after income tax attributable to members  
of the parent entity, for the financial year was  
$187.5m (2005: $202.8m) with earnings per share of 
33.27 cents (2005: 36.36 cents). The net profit for the 
financial year has recognised a tax benefit of $15.9m 
(2005: nil) arising from the final reset of tax values as a 
result of entry into tax consolidation.

Dividends
Dividends paid or declared by the company since the end of 
the previous financial year were as follows:
  $m

Final dividend
10 cents per share payable on 19 October 2006,  
fully franked at a 30% tax rate on fully paid shares 56.9

Interim dividend
7 cents per share paid on 20 April 2006, fully  
franked at a 30% tax rate on fully paid shares  39.7

Final dividend 
7.5 cents per share paid on 20 October 2005,  
fully franked at a 30% tax rate on fully paid shares 42.3

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of 
the OneSteel Group that occurred during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2006. Commentary on the overall state of 
affairs of the OneSteel Group is set out on pages 1 to 33 of 
the Annual Review.

Environmental Regulation and Performance
The OneSteel Group is subject to significant environmental 
regulation in respect of its mining and manufacturing 
activities. Environmental performance obligations are 
monitored by management and the Board of directors and 
periodically subjected to internal, independent external 
and government agency audits and site inspections. The 
environment report is set out on pages 30 and 31 of the 
Annual Review.

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year
On 26 June 2006, OneSteel Limited (“OneSteel”) and 
Smorgon Steel Group Limited (“Smorgon Steel”) announced 
that they have reached an agreement under which 
OneSteel will acquire all of the shares in Smorgon Steel (the 
“proposed transaction”).

It is intended that the proposed transaction be undertaken 
via a scheme of arrangement to be voted on by Smorgon 
Steel shareholders. The timing of this transaction is 
uncertain and is subject to approval by the Australian 
Competition and Consumer Commission (“ACCC”) and other 
corporate activity. 

Smorgon Steel shareholders will receive a combination of 
OneSteel ordinary shares and cash with an implied value of 
$1.76 per Smorgon Steel share. 

Smorgon Steel shareholders will receive 9 shares for in 
OneSteel for every 22 shares they hold in Smorgon Steel. In 
addition, Smorgon Steel shareholders will receive between 
6.2 and 22.6 cents per share.

Since 30 June 2006 and to the date of this report, no other 
matter or circumstance has arisen that has significantly 
affected or may significantly affect:

-  the OneSteel Group’s operations in future financial years; 
or

- the results of those operations in future years; or 

-  the OneSteel Group’s state of affairs in future financial 
years.

Future Developments
Certain likely developments in the operations of the 
OneSteel Group known to the date of this report have been 
covered generally within the Annual Review including the 
proposed merger with Smorgon Steel Limited. 

Directors’ Meetings
The number of directors’ meetings held, including meetings 
of committees of directors, and number of meetings 
attended by each of the directors during the financial 
year are listed at the bottom of the page. The roles and 
membership details of each of the committees are described 
on pages 35 to 37 of the Annual Review.

      Occupational 
    Governance & Audit & Health, Safety & Human Operational 
  Board of  Nominations Compliance Environment Resources Risk 
Director Directors Committee  Committee  Committee Committee Committee

Number of meetings held 15 2 4 4 2 4
Number of meetings attended    
P J Smedley 15 2   2 4
R B Davis 15   4  4
E J Doyle 15 1 4 4  
C R Galbraith 15 2 4   
P G Nankervis 15  4   4
G J Plummer 15     
D A Pritchard2 15  1 4 1 4
N J Roach 15  3 3 2 

Notes: 
1.  In addition to the above a special purpose Due Diligence Committee was appointed by the Board to undertake assignments in relation to the proposed merger with  

Smorgon Steel Limited. The Committee, comprising Messrs Smedley, Galbraith, Nankervis and Plummer, met three times and each of the Committee members attended  
all of the meetings. 

2.  Mr Pritchard attended all meetings of the Audit & Compliance Committee and the Human Resources Committee held while he was a member of each Committee.
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REMuNERATION REPORT
This report outlines OneSteel’s philosophy and guiding 
principles for the remuneration and reward of directors, 
executives and senior management. The report also details 
actual remuneration paid to directors and executives during 
the year ended 30 June 2006.

The remuneration report is set out under the following main 
sections: 

A.  Principles used to determine the nature and amount  
of remuneration

B. Details of remuneration

C. Equity based compensation

D. Additional information

E. Employment contracts

The information provided under sections A, B, C and E 
includes remuneration disclosures that are required under 
accounting standard AASB 124 “Related Party Disclosures”. 
These disclosures have been audited. The disclosures 
in Section D are additional disclosures required by the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 
2001 that have not been audited. 

A. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND 
AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION (AUDITED)
Remuneration Philosophy
The objective of the company’s remuneration framework 
is to pay market competitive remuneration (recognising 
skills and experience), and to reward for performance and 
the achievement of strategic objectives leading to creation 
of value for shareholders. OneSteel seeks to provide 
competitive remuneration that will attract, develop and 
retain both senior executives and directors.

Human Resources Committee
The Board’s Human Resources Committee is responsible 
for reviewing remuneration policies and practices, 
including compensation and associated arrangements for 
executive directors and senior executives, the company’s 
superannuation arrangements and, within the aggregate 
amount approved by shareholders, the fees for non–
executive members of the Board. This role also includes 
responsibility for the company’s share and option plans. 

Performance reviews, succession planning and remuneration 
recommendations for the Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director and executives directly reporting to 
the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director are 
matters referred to and considered by the Human Resources 
Committee.

The Human Resources Committee has access to 
independent advice and comparative studies on the 
appropriateness of remuneration arrangements. The Human 
Resources Committee makes recommendations to the Board 
which makes final remuneration decisions in respect of 
directors and senior executives.

Remuneration Structure
In accordance with corporate governance best practice, 
the structure of the company’s non–executive director 
remuneration is separate and distinct from that applicable 
to executive directors and senior executives.

Non–Executive Directors
The Board, in conjunction with the Human Resources 
Committee, seeks to establish non–executive director 
remuneration at a level that enables the company to 
attract and retain directors of the highest calibre at a 
cost that is responsible and acceptable to shareholders. 
The remuneration arrangements now applying are in line 
with industry practices and guidelines and they affirm the 
commitment of the company to the principles of good 
corporate governance.

Under the arrangements, non–executive directors of the 
company are entitled to the following:

(a)  the payment of directors’ fees in cash and statutory 
superannuation contributions 

(b)  for service from 17 November 2003 a long–term 
component of non–executive director fees, to be  
received by a non–executive director on retirement  
from the Board

(c)  for directors who held office on 17 November 2003, a 
cash benefit under the discontinued retirement benefit 
scheme fixed by reference to length of service up to 
this date, which is to be paid upon the retirement of the 
director from the Board.

The aggregate remuneration under (a) and (b) above must 
be less than the limit (currently $1,300,000) imposed 
by Article 9.8 of the Constitution of the company and as 
approved by shareholders under ASX Listing Rule 10.17.

The amount of aggregate remuneration, and the manner 
in which it is apportioned amongst directors, is reviewed 
periodically by the Human Resources Committee and the 
Board. The Board considers advice from independent 
external consultants and reviews fees paid to non–executive 
directors from a cross–section of comparable companies in 
making determinations.

Each non–executive director receives a fee for being a 
director of the company. Additional fees are not paid for 
additional duties such as sitting on Board Committees. 
Non–executive directors have not been granted share 
rights or options, and do not receive any bonus or other 
compensation linked to the company’s performance, apart 
from the long–term component of remuneration described 
below. 

Long–Term Component of Non–Executive Directors’ 
Remuneration
From 17 November 2003, non–executive directors became 
entitled to a long–term component of fees that forms 
part of the total amount of annually declared directors’ 
remuneration. This long–term component is not paid directly 
to the director but applied, excluding any mandatory 
statutory superannuation contributions, to the on–market 
purchase of shares in the company. The shares purchased 
are then held on behalf of each respective director under 
the terms of the company’s non–executive director share 
plan until the retirement from the Board of the director. 
Dividends in respect of these shares are paid to directors at 
the time that dividends are paid to shareholders.

Thus, the value of the entitlements under the long–term 
component of non–executive director fees, to be received by 
a non–executive director upon retirement, is ultimately tied 
directly to the market performance of the company.

The cost of acquiring shares is expensed at the time of 
purchase in the accounts of the company. This ensures  
that the cost of providing the long–term component impacts 
the company’s accounts annually rather than at the time of 
the retirement of the non–executive director. 

Retirement Benefit - Discontinued Scheme
The retirement benefit scheme in existence until 17 
November 2003 was approved by shareholders during 
the public listing of the company in 2000. This retirement 
benefit was an additional and separate arrangement to the 
payment of directors’ fees.

The transition to the new arrangements involved the 
amount of the retirement benefit accrued by each non–
executive director up to 17 November 2003 being fixed 
by reference to length of service up to this date and those 
directors foregoing the balance of their benefits under that 
scheme in return for participation in the new arrangements.
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Senior Executives’ Remuneration
The company’s remuneration policy for executive directors 
and senior executives (including the company secretary) 
aims to:

-  attract, develop and retain executives with the capabilities 
required to lead the company in the achievement of 
business objectives

-  have a significant proportion of executives’ pay at risk 
to ensure a focus on delivering annual financial, safety, 
customer and business objectives

-  reward executives for maintaining sustained returns to 
shareholders.

In determining the level and composition of executive 
director and senior executives’ remuneration, the company 
draws on internal resources and independent external 
advisers to ensure its practices are market competitive, 
flexible and in keeping with emerging trends in good 
corporate governance. Remuneration is reviewed annually  
in July and changes applied from 1 July for the CEO and  
1 September for all other executives. The Human Resources 
Committee reviews the Managing Director’s remuneration 
arrangements. In the case of senior executives, the 
Managing Director makes recommendations to the Human 
Resources Committee. The Board approves all remuneration 
changes for executive directors and senior executives.

For executive directors and senior executives, remuneration 
consists of a fixed annual reward that incorporates 
consideration for a base salary and other benefits including 
superannuation and fringe benefits tax, plus an at–risk 
component that comprises:

-  a Short–Term Incentive (STI) that rewards the personal 
contribution to delivery of annual business goals, plus 

-  a Long–Term Incentive (LTI) that periodically allocates 
shares (and options) for achieving sustained performance 
over a three–year period.

The proportions of fixed and at–risk reward are established 
for each executive relative to their position’s job size and 
in terms of the company’s policies. The policy used as a 
guide is for the remuneration of the Managing Director to 
be 50% fixed remuneration and 50% at risk while for senior 
executives the proportions are 60 % fixed remuneration and 
40% at risk.

Fixed Annual Reward
The level of base salary is set so as to provide a level of 
remuneration that is both appropriate to the executive’s 
skills, experience and performance as well as competitive 
in the market. Salaries are reviewed annually. The process 
entails review of company, business unit and individual 
performance, relative comparative remuneration in the 
market and internal, and as appropriate, independent 
external advice on policies and practices.

Senior executives are provided flexibility to receive their 
Fixed Annual Reward remuneration in a variety of forms, 
including cash, superannuation and fringe benefits such as 
motor vehicles. 

Short Term Incentive (STI) 
The STI is administered over a 12–month period on a 
financial year cycle. STI aims to reward participating 
employees for the achievement of agreed financial, safety, 
business and personal goals. 

The performance measures used for the STI are established 
each year by the Board for the Managing Director and the 
senior executives. The specific measures are derived from 
OneSteel Budgets and Business Plans and include profit, 
cash and return on funds employed in addition to agreed 
personal goals. Using these parameters, the Managing 
Director and senior executives then set the individual safety, 
business and personal goals for other senior management. 
Therefore, objectives for the STI are based on planned/
budgeted performance, incorporate stretch targets and are 
dependent on the achievement of continuous improvement. 

Payments under the STI are based on a set percentage of 
salary for achievement of goals. STI payments are not paid 
for the maintenance of previously attained performance 
levels. Payments can range from nil to 200% of the target 
range. The STI is normally paid in cash but individuals may 
salary sacrifice for example into superannuation or the 
purchase of OneSteel shares. 

Executives participate in an annual performance 
review process that assesses performance against key 
accountabilities and job goals. Performance against these 
goals impacts directly on STI payments. STI payments 
may be reduced or withheld if the executive is assessed 
to fall substantially short of performance expectations or 
has failed to demonstrate minimum required leadership 
behaviours or operating style. The actual payment of the 
STI is subject to final Board approval.

In addition to an annual performance review, there is an 
ongoing process for regular performance review during 
the financial year. The review process ensures that there 
is clarity in the communication and understanding of 
key business drivers and targets. These performance 
discussions also serve to provide feedback, to plan 
development initiatives and to aid succession planning.

Long–Term Incentive (LTI)
The LTI is restricted to senior executives, including senior 
management, and executive directors. The objective 
of the LTI is to reward the participating executives in a 
manner which aligns this element of remuneration with the 
sustained creation of shareholder wealth. Allocations under 
the company’s Share Plan and/or the Executive Option Plan 
are made on a periodic basis as deemed appropriate by the 
Board. The same vesting requirements are applied to both 
rights to shares and options.

Options that were issued to executives during the year 
ended 30 June 2001 and 30 June 2002 were fully vested 
during the year ended 30 June 2005. No further options 
have been issued since those referred to above. Rights to 
shares have been issued periodically since the year ended 
30 June 2001. 

When vesting rules are satisfied, one ordinary share in the 
company may be obtained for each right to shares or option 
after a qualifying period of three years. These instruments 
are held in trust during this period and vesting of both 
shares and options is subject to the company achieving 
specific performance hurdles at the end of this period. If 
the shares and options do not vest immediately at the end 
of the three–year qualifying period, provisions exist that 
enable re–testing of the performance hurdles quarterly for 
senior executives and six monthly for the current Managing 
Director over a two–year period. In addition, all or some of 
these shares and options may vest to an individual executive 
on termination when special circumstances apply. At the 
discretion of the Board these include redundancy, death and 
permanent disability. 

Dividends in respect of rights to shares held by an executive 
prior to vesting are distributed to executives in accordance 
with their respective allocations at the time the dividend is 
paid by the company.

The company granted performance dependent rights to 
ordinary shares to certain senior executives during the year 
ended 30 June 2006. Details of equity based compensation 
provided to each director of OneSteel Limited and each 
of the other key management personnel of the Group are 
shown in section C of this report. 
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B. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION (AUDITED)
Details of remuneration paid to directors and senior 
executives meeting the definition of key management 
personnel under AASB 124 “Related Party Disclosures” of 
OneSteel Limited and the OneSteel Group are set out below. 

The key management personnel of the Group are the 
directors of OneSteel Limited and those executives that 
report directly to the Managing Director, and also the 
Chief Executive Officer of Steel & Tube Holdings Limited, 
a New Zealand listed company in which OneSteel holds a 
50.3% interest as set out below. These are persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. 
This includes the five company and group executives who 
received the highest remuneration for the year ended 30 
June 2006.

N Calavrias, Chief Executive Officer, Steel & Tube  
Holdings Limited
A J Reeves, Chief Financial Officer
L J Selleck, Executive General Manager, Project Magnet 
C R Keast, Executive General Manager, Market Mills
M R Parry, Executive General Manager, Whyalla 
A H Combe, Executive General Manager, Distribution  
(from 30 January 2006)
W J Gately, Corporate General Manager,  
Human Resources and Safety
A Roberts, Executive General Manager, Marketing  
(from 18 July 2005)
R W Freeman, Executive General Manager, Distribution  
(until 5 August 2005)

The five company executives who received the highest 
remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2006 are:

A J Reeves, Chief Financial Officer
L J Selleck, Executive General Manager, Project Magnet 
C R Keast, Executive General Manager, Market Mills
M R Parry, Executive General Manager, Whyalla 
A Roberts, Executive General Manager, Marketing

The five group executives who received the highest 
remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2006 are:

N Calavrias, Chief Executive Officer, Steel & Tube  
Holdings Limited
A J Reeves, Chief Financial Officer
L J Selleck, Executive General Manager, Project Magnet 
C R Keast, Executive General Manager, Market Mills
M R Parry, Executive General Manager, Whyalla 

(a) Compensation of key management personnel
   OTHER     TOTAL 
   LONG–TERM TERMINATION SHARE–BASED  PERFORMANCE  
 SHORT TERM BENEFITS POST–EMPLOyMENT BENEFITS BENEFITS PAyMENT TOTAL RELATED

   Non–monetary  Superannuation Cash  Shares and 
 Salary and Fees Cash bonus benefits  Bonus  share rights(1), (2)  
2006 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Directors
P J Smedley  266,667  - -  - - -  119,625   386,292  -  
G J Plummer  1,099,143   765,000  -  100,857   -    -    744,008   2,709,008   55.7  
R B Davis  89,000  -  -    8,010   -    -    31,950   128,960   -  
E J Doyle  89,000   -  -  8,010   -    -    31,950   128,960  -  
C R Galbraith  89,000   -    -   8,010   -    -    31,950   128,960  -  
P G Nankervis  89,000   -    -   -    -    -    39,938  128,938  -  
D A Pritchard  89,000   -    -   8,010   -    -    31,950   128,960   -  
N J Roach  89,000   -    -   8,010   -    -    31,950   128,960   -  

Executives
N Calavrias(3) 491,071  142,857  7,143 36,830  195,858   - -  873,759   38.8 
A J Reeves  578,399   324,000   33,030   56,769   -    -    115,835   1,108,033   39.7 
L J Selleck  410,175   253,000   86,493   55,423   -    -    102,014   907,105   39.1 
M R Parry  400,582   190,000   13,999   31,872   -    -    56,705   693,158   35.6 
C R Keast  402,795   212,000   4,552   36,875   -    -    56,705   712,927   37.7 
A Roberts  346,514   170,000   21,326  28,925   -    -    45,310   612,075  35.2 
A H Combe(4)  342,214   109,000   -    21,368   -    -    14,064   486,646   25.3 
W J Gately  342,875   123,000   4,552   46,378   -    -    65,616   582,421   32.4 
R W Freeman(5)  54,170  -  -    4,873   -    -    -    59,043   -  

Total  5,268,605   2,288,857  171,095  460,220   195,858    -    1,519,570   9,904,205  
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   OTHER     TOTAL 
   LONG–TERM TERMINATION SHARE–BASED  PERFORMANCE  
 SHORT TERM BENEFITS POST–EMPLOyMENT BENEFITS BENEFITS PAyMENT TOTAL RELATED

   Non–monetary  Superannuation Cash  Shares and 
 Salary and Fees Cash bonus benefits  Bonus  share rights(1), (2)  
200� $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Directors    
P J Smedley  250,000   -    -  -   -   -    112,500   362,500   -  
R L Every(6)  1,000,000   600,000  4,272   323,235  -     1,390,768   610,208   3,928,483   30.8 
G J Plummer  712,588   460,000   4,507  69,065  -    -    205,001   1,451,161   45.8 
R B Davis  49,000   -    -    4,410  -    -    17,640  71,050   -  
E J Doyle  84,000   -    -   7,560  -     -    30,240   121,800   -  
C R Galbraith  84,000   -    -    7,560  -    -    30,240   121,800   -  
D E Meiklejohn(7)  61,040   -    -   5,040  -     -    20,160   86,240   -  
P G Nankervis  49,000   -    -    -   -    -    22,050   71,050   -  
D A Pritchard  84,000   -    -   7,560  -     -    30,240   121,800   -  
N J Roach  84,000   -    -    7,560  -    -    30,240   121,800   -  

Executives         
N Calavrias(3)  460,774   258,438   7,358   34,949  96,569    -    -    858,088   41.4 
R W Freeman  515,163   249,000   -   46,365  -     -    93,907   904,435   37.9 
W J Gately  326,413   140,000   4,507   44,067  -     -    51,234   566,221   33.8 
A J Reeves  505,427   219,000   -   51,520  -     -    93,739   869,686   36.0 
L J Selleck  403,013   180,000   70,136   54,457  -     -    86,270   793,876   33.5 

Total  4,668,418   2,106,438   90,780   663,348   96,569    1,390,768   1,433,669   10,449,990  

(b) Share rights provided as compensation - granted and vested
During the financial year, share rights were granted as equity compensation benefits under the long–term incentive plan to certain key management personnel as disclosed above. No 
share rights have been granted to non–executive directors under this scheme. The share rights were issued free of charge and entitle the holder to one fully paid ordinary share in the 
entity. For details of the vesting conditions and further details relating to the share rights refer to Section C of this report.

  VESTED   GRANTED  TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR EACH GRANT

       Fair value per right 
     at grant date  Expiry First Exercise Last Exercise 
2006  No.   No.  Grant Date ($)   date   date   date 

Directors
G J Plummer  68,998   -                 

Executives
A J Reeves  68,998   50,896  8/9/05  2.80  8/9/10 8/9/08 8/9/10
L J Selleck  56,453   35,926  8/9/05  2.80  8/9/10 8/9/08 8/9/10
M R Parry  13,800   47,901  8/9/05  2.80  8/9/10 8/9/08 8/9/10
C R Keast  13,800   47,901  8/9/05  2.80  8/9/10 8/9/08 8/9/10
A Roberts  -    44,907  8/9/05  2.80  8/9/10 8/9/08 8/9/10
A H Combe  -    33,207  3/2/06  3.15  3/2/11 3/2/09 3/2/11
W J Gately  43,280   29,938  8/9/05  2.80  8/9/10 8/9/08 8/9/10

Total  265,329   290,676      

Notes

(1)  The value recorded for non–executive directors in the share based payment section 
represents the new long–term component of directors’s remuneration commenced 
after the annual general meeting on 17 November 2003. This amount has been 
accrued during the year with the purchase of shares occurring at the trading windows 
available under OneSteel’s policy on dealing in company shares. 

(2)  The share rights have been valued using a Monte–Carlo simulation option pricing 
model, modified to incorporate an estimate of the probability of achieving the TSR  

      hurdle and the number of share rights vesting. The value of the share rights has been 
apportioned over the three–year vesting period. 

(3)  Cash bonuses are in respect of short–term incentives, except for Mr N Calavrias, 
whose payments include a long–term component.

(4)  Included in the salary and fees for Mr A H Combe was a sign–on payment of 
$125,000 upon joining the company. 

(5)  Mr R W Freeman was also paid outstanding annual leave balances of $49,932 on 
leaving the company.

(6)  Dr R L Every was also paid outstanding leave balances of $495,692.

(7)  Mr D E Meiklejohn retired as a director on 28 February 2005. In addition to the above 
remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2005 he was paid a retirement allowance 
of $247,900 from the retirement plan discontinued on 17 November 2003. 
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  VESTED   GRANTED  TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR EACH GRANT

       Fair value per right 
     at grant date  Expiry First Exercise Last Exercise 
200�  No.   No.  Grant Date ($)   date   date   date 

Directors       
R L Every  782,319   -       
G J Plummer  75,000   1,058,040  6–May–05 1.89 6–May–10 6–May–08 6–May–10
G J Plummer  -  85,086  3–Sep–04 2.24 3–Sep–09 3–Sep–07 3–Sep–09

Executives       
A J Reeves  174,975   85,086  3–Sep–04 2.24 3–Sep–09 3–Sep–07 3–Sep–09
L J Selleck  60,000   85,086  3–Sep–04 2.24 3–Sep–09 3–Sep–07 3–Sep–09
W J Gately  25,000   45,946  3–Sep–04 2.24 3–Sep–09 3–Sep–07 3–Sep–09
R W Freeman  75,000   85,086  3–Sep–04 2.24 3–Sep–09 3–Sep–07 3–Sep–09

Total  1,192,294   1,440,330      

(c) Compensation options granted and vested during the year
Due to the suspension of the Executive Option Plan there were no grants of options during the year. The following options vested during the 2005 year, with vesting equal to 100% of the 
options granted. These options have not been recognised as part of compensation of key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2005 or recognised in the Income Statement 
as the options were granted prior to 7 November 2002. OneSteel has applied the requirements of AASB 2 “Share-based Payments” to equity instruments granted after 7 November 2002 
and that had not vested on or before 1 January 2005. All outstanding options vested in 2005.
        Vested  
200�        No. 

Directors 
G J Plummer      90,000 

Executives 
A J Reeves      233,300 
L J Selleck      75,000 
W J Gately      30,000 
R W Freeman      90,000 

Total      518,300 

(d) Shares issued on exercise of compensation options
    Shares Amount  Amount 
    issued paid per share unpaid per share Value of option 
2006    No.  $ $ $

Executives      
L J Selleck   75,000  1.0434  -    170,745 
M R Parry   8,000  1.0434  -    18,213 
C R Keast   18,500  1.0434  -    43,042 
W J Gately   30,000  1.0434  -    62,598 

Total   131,500     294,598 

200�    

Directors       
R L Every   2,462,735  0.9258  -    4,714,167 
G J Plummer   140,420  0.9258  -    284,238 

Executives  
A J Reeves   233,300  0.9087  -    420,243 
R W Freeman   241,298  0.8848  -    495,916 

Total   3,077,753     5,914,564 
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C. EQUITy BASED COMPENSATION (AUDITED)
Share rights and options
The performance hurdles for the vesting of shares 
and options allocated under the LTI Plan relate to two 
comparative groups, namely the Australian Consumer 
Price Index plus 5% (Base Index) and the S&P/ASX 200 
Index excluding banks, media and telecommunications 
(Comparator Index), that are measured against OneSteel’s 
performance in terms of Total Shareholder Return (TSR) 
which is broadly share price growth plus dividends. For each 
instalment, 50% of the shares will vest subject to OneSteel’s 
TSR performance to the Base Index and the remaining 
50% of shares will vest subject to OneSteel’s performance 
to the Comparator Index. The use of a relative TSR hurdle 
is consistent with market best practice as it ensures an 
alignment between comparative shareholder return and 
reward for executives. Prior to the approval of the vesting of 
shares or options, the Board obtains independent external 
verification that vesting conditions have been satisfied.

The vesting of shares or options allocated under the Base 
Index performance hurdle is determined in accordance with 
the following vesting table:
Performance  % of Shares and 
Ranking Range  Options Available

Up to and including 60% Nil
61% to 80% 60%
81% to 99% 80%
100% and over 100%

The vesting of shares or options allocated under the 
Comparator Index hurdle applies as follows:

-  50% will vest if OneSteel’s TSR performance equates to a 
50th percentile ranking with the S&P/ASX200 Index

-  if a ranking between the 50th and 75th percentile is 
achieved, vesting is on a straight–line basis, with all 
vesting at or above the 75th percentile ranking. 

This revised vesting scale was established in 2004 and 
applied to all rights to shares allocated during the period. 

Where rights to shares and options were granted under the 
LTI Plan prior to 30 June 2004, the performance hurdles 
then applying were the same measures for the Base Index 
and the Comparator Index described above. However, the 
vesting scale applicable for all these shares or options is 
the same as the vesting scale set out above that currently 
applies only for the Base Index. 

D. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of 
remuneration: relationship between remuneration and 
company performance 
During the period since listing in October 2000, the 
company has each year progressively delivered profit and 
dividend growth to members. 
    Dividend Earnings  
year Ended  Profit cents per  Per Share 
30 June  $m share cents

2006 (AIFRS)  187.5 17.0 33.3
2005  132.5 13.5 23.6
2004  127.9 12.0 23.2
2003   94.0 11.0 17.2
2002   47.1  6.5  8.7
2001   (27.9)  6.0  5.1

The graph below clearly demonstrates the outperformance 
of the designated performance hurdles by the company 
over the period that the measurement of vesting under the 
LTI Plan is applicable. The graph compares the OneSteel 
TSR against the Comparator Index (the S&P/ASX200 Index 
excluding banks, media and telecommunications) and the 
Base Index (the Australian Consumer Price Index plus 5%.
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E. EMPLOyMENT CONTRACTS (AUDITED)
Mr G J Plummer
Mr Geoff Plummer was appointed as Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer on 2 May 2005 for a fixed term of 5 
years following a period as Deputy Managing Director from 
20 December 2004 until 1 May 2005.

Mr Plummer’s remuneration comprises three components. 
These are base remuneration, short–term incentive and 
long–term incentives. 

He is paid a base remuneration of $1,200,000 per annum 
inclusive of superannuation and novated car leases. The 
base remuneration is reviewed by the Board’s Remuneration 
Committee each year and may be increased or remain 
unchanged (but not be decreased) as a result of this review.

The short–term incentive payment in any year will be 
determined by the Board in consultation with Mr Plummer 
by assessment of Mr Plummer’s performance against 
financial, business, safety and personal targets set by the 
Board in consultation with Mr Plummer at the start of each 
financial year. 

For the long–term component of his remuneration,  
Mr Plummer will be granted two separate allocations of 
shares during this term. He was allocated the First Instalment 
on 6 May 2005 when 1,058,040 shares were allocated at 
the prevailing market price representing two times’ base 
remuneration. Mr Plummer’s contract provides for a second 
instalment to be allocated on the second anniversary of 
Mr Plummer’s commencement as Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer with a fair market value intended to 
represent an amount equivalent to one and one third times’ 
base remuneration. However, in view of the proposed merger 
with Smorgon Steel Group Limited, in order to align  
Mr Plummer’s long term incentive with the performance of 
the merged entity, the Directors have agreed to bring forward 
the allocation date of the second instalment. The shares will 
be acquired over the course of the 10 consecutive trading 
days starting on the day following the day that the Scheme 
comes into effect, assuming that the scheme is approved 
by Smorgon Steel shareholders and the Court, and will be 
allocated to Mr Plummer at the conclusion of that period. The 
method used to calculate the price at which these shares are 
to be allocated will be the same as will be used in the formula 
to determine the consideration payable for each Smorgon 
Steel share under clause 4.2 of the Scheme, namely the 
volume weighted average price of OneSteel shares traded 
in that period subject to certain adjustments. The vesting 
criteria for these shares as outlined in the section on Long–
Term Incentive appearing earlier in this Remuneration Report 
does not change and the three year qualifying period will 
commence on the date of allocation. 
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In accordance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council 
Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 
Recommendations, Mr Plummer’s termination entitlements 
have been agreed in advance. The Board is satisfied, 
after considering independent advice, that Mr Plummer’s 
termination entitlements that are set out below are 
reasonable having regard to current employment practices.

If the employment of Mr Plummer terminates at the end of 
the fixed term or the end of an extension period, by death, 
illness, incapacity, or by appropriate notice by either party 
he will be paid his base remuneration and any accrued 
untaken statutory leave entitlements calculated to the 
termination date. Mr Plummer will also be entitled to be 
paid any amount of short–term incentive that has accrued 
from the previous financial year. The Board, in its absolute 
discretion, will determine the amount of the short–term 
incentive payable for the financial year in which termination 
occurs, if any.

In addition, if the employment of Mr Plummer terminates 
at the end of the fixed term or the end of an extension 
period, by death, by illness, by incapacity, by appropriate 
notice by OneSteel or by notice from Mr Plummer due to 
a fundamental change in the business, the Board, in its 
absolute discretion, will determine whether Mr Plummer 
may be able to withdraw some or all of the shares granted 
under the LTI Plan which have not vested.

In the event the termination is as a result of 12 months’ 
notice from OneSteel then Mr Plummer will also be entitled 
to a payment in lieu of notice of up to the aggregate base 
remuneration paid to Mr Plummer over the previous 12 
months. 

Mr Plummer is required to provide six months’ notice of 
termination or a lesser period where there is a fundamental 
change in the business or OneSteel is in breach or default 
of its obligations under the service contract. If Mr Plummer 
terminates his employment within six months after the 
occurrence of a fundamental change, he will be entitled to 
a payment equivalent to the aggregate base remuneration 
paid to him over the previous 12 months, in addition to the 
payments referred to above.

If, during the employment period, Mr Plummer is terminated 
for cause, OneSteel will have no further obligations other 
than the amount of base pay due to Mr Plummer through 
to his termination date plus any unpaid amounts of accrued 
leave.

Upon termination of Mr Plummer’s employment for any 
reason, Mr Plummer is prohibited from engaging in any 
activity that would compete with OneSteel for a period of 
12 months. 

A comprehensive summary of Mr Plummer’s employment 
contract was lodged with the Australian Stock Exchange on 
20 December 2004 and a copy of this release is available on 
the OneSteel website. 

Other key management personnel – senior executives
Senior executives may terminate their employment with 
three months’ written notice. The company may terminate 
employment for cause or not for cause. Depending on 
individual executives’ contracts, if the company terminates 
employment, other than for cause, the company may pay up 
to 1.0 times’ fixed annual reward at the time of termination 
and a pro–rata amount of STI for recently appointed 
executives. Other executives are tied to a pre–existing 
company redundancy policy which has a maximum payment 
of up to 2.0 times’ base salary at time of termination by 
cause of redundancy plus a pro–rata amount of STI. 

In addition, if the employment of an individual senior 
executive terminates at the end of the fixed term or the end 
of an extension period, by death, by illness, by incapacity, 
by appropriate notice by OneSteel or by notice from the 
individual due to a fundamental change in business, the 
Board, in its absolute discretion, will determine whether the 
individual may be able to withdraw some or all of the shares 
granted under the LTI Plan which have not vested.

Recently appointed executives are also bound by “non–
compete” clauses generally restraining them for a period 
of 12 months from taking up employment or engaging in 
activities which would be to the detriment of OneSteel.
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Company Secretary
Information on the qualification and experience of the 
company secretary is set out on page 13 of the Annual 
Review.

No Officers are Former Auditors
No officer of the OneSteel Group has been a partner of an 
audit firm or a director of an audit company that is or was 
an auditor of any entity in the OneSteel Group during the 
year ended 30 June 2006.

Share Rights and Options
During the year there were 689,367 rights to shares and nil 
options that vested to management under the terms of the 
Long–Term Incentive Plan. There were nil options forfeited 
during the year. During, or since the end of the financial 
year, the company has issued 396,314 shares as a result 
of the exercise of options. Details relating to the exercise of 
these options are included in Note 28 to the Full Financial 
Report. There are no amounts unpaid on the shares issued. 

At the date of this report exercisable options over ordinary 
shares of the company are:
  Exercise Number of  
Expiry Date Price Share Options

15 December 2009 $0.9258 194,621
21 December 2010 $1.0434  301,500

The options do not entitle the holder to participate in any 
share issue of the company. Shares held in trust under the 
Long–Term Incentive Plan carry voting rights.

Directors’ Interests
During the financial year, directors acquired ordinary 
shares in the company at market prices, either directly or 
indirectly, as follows:
Director Ordinary shares

P J Smedley  44,004 
G J Plummer  -   
R B Davis  11,767 
E J Doyle  11,766 
C R Galbraith  11,767 
P G Nankervis  14,708 
D A Pritchard  11,766 
N J Roach  11,766

No director, either directly or indirectly, disposed of any 
ordinary shares, exercised an option over ordinary shares or 
was granted rights to further shares and options during the 
financial year.

The relevant interest of each director in the shares, rights 
to shares, options or other instruments of the company and 
related bodies corporate are:

Director Shares Share rights Options

P J Smedley  204,647   -     -   
G J Plummer  339,342   1,143,126   90,000 
R B Davis  15,445   -     -   
E J Doyle  115,559   -     -   
C R Galbraith  87,858   -     -   
P G Nankervis  22,306   -     -   
D A Pritchard  78,417   -     -   
N J Roach  203,632   -     -   

Full details are set out in Note 29 to the Full Financial Report.

Interests of Non–Executive Directors in Contracts or 
Proposed Contracts with the Company
Directors of OneSteel Limited have declared their interests 
in contracts or proposed contracts that may result from 
their directorships of other corporations, as listed in their 
personal profiles set out on page 34 of the Annual Review.

Members of the OneSteel Group had normal business 
transactions with directors (or director–related entities) of 
the parent entity and its controlled entities during the year, 
including payments to the legal firm Allens Arthur Robinson. 
During the period 1 July 2005 to 31 January 2006 Mr C R 
Galbraith was an equity partner in Allens Arthur Robinson 
and then from 1 February 2006 to 30 June 2006 he was 
engaged by that firm as a special adviser in a salaried 
role. In the financial year to 30 June 2006, Allens Arthur 
Robinson billed OneSteel a total of $1,200,892 of which 
$578,275 remained unpaid at 30 June 2006. These fees 
were billed in respect of legal work performed by the firm 
and were charged on normal arm’s length commercial 
terms. Mr Galbraith was not personally involved in the 
provision of these services.

Loans to Directors and Executives
There were no loans made to or outstanding with directors 
or executives.

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers
The company has agreements with each of the directors 
of the company in office at the date of this report, and 
certain former directors, indemnifying these officers against 
liabilities to any person other than the company or a related 
body corporate that may arise from their acting as officers 
of the company, notwithstanding that they may have 
ceased to hold office, except where the liability arises out of 
conduct involving a lack of good faith.

The directors have not included details of the nature 
of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium 
paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ liability and 
legal expenses insurance contracts, as such disclosure is 
prohibited under the terms of the contract.

Non–Audit Services
During the year, OneSteel’s auditors, Ernst & young, 
provided non–audit services to OneSteel Group entities.

In accordance with advice from OneSteel’s Audit & 
Compliance Committee, the directors are satisfied that 
the provision of the non–audit services during the year 
is compatible with the general standard of independence 
for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act. Also in 
accordance with advice from OneSteel’s Audit & Compliance 
Committee, the directors are satisfied that the nature and 
scope of each type of non–audit service provided means 
that auditor independence was not compromised. 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor, Ernst 
& young, for the provision of non–audit services during the 
year ended 30 June 2006 are as follows: 

Tax compliance services $ 788,611 
Accounting advice $ 17,500 
Other services $  nil

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration made under Section 
307C of the Corporations Act, set out below, forms part of 
the Directors’ Report. 

Rounding of Amounts
The company is of the kind referred to in the ASIC Class 
Order 98/0100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with 
that Class Order, amounts in the financial report have been 
rounded off to the nearest one hundred thousand dollars 
or, where the amount is $50,000 or less, zero, unless 
specifically stated to be otherwise.

Signed in Sydney this 22nd day of August 2006 in 
accordance with a resolution of directors.

 
Peter Smedley Geoff Plummer
Chairman Managing Director

Auditors’ Independence Declaration to the Directors of 
OneSteel Limited
In relation to our audit of the financial report of OneSteel 
Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2006, to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of 
professional conduct.

 
Ernst & Young Craig M Jackson 
 Partner
Sydney, 22 August 2006
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Discussion and analysis of the financial statements
The discussion and analysis is provided to assist readers in understanding the Full Financial 
Report. 

OneSteel Limited and its controlled entities (together, the “OneSteel Group”) comprise the 
consolidated entity. 

The principal activities of the OneSteel Group during the financial year were: 

- Mining of iron ore

- Production of steel

- Manufacture and distribution of steel products.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical cost, applying 
generally accepted accounting principles. 

The Full Financial Report is the first annual OneSteel Limited financial report to be prepared 
in accordance with Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AIFRS). AASB 1 “First Time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards” has been applied in preparing the Full Financial Report. 

When preparing OneSteel Limited’s 2006 financial statements, management has amended 
certain accounting, valuation and consolidation methods applied in the AGAAP financial 
statements to comply with AIFRS. The significant accounting policies meeting those 
requirements are described in Note 1 to the Full Financial Report. 

Income Statement
Net profit attributable to members of the parent for the financial year was $187.5 million. 
Excluding the impact of the tax benefit arising from the finalisation of reset tax values on 
entry into tax consolidation, the net profit for the year was $171.6 million. 

Sales revenue increased 1.7% to $4,004.6million, driven by higher prices to recover higher 
raw material costs and by higher steel dispatches. 

Earnings in the Manufacturing segment increased as a result of cost reductions, price 
increases that were implemented late in the 2005 financial year to recover higher raw 
material input costs and the return to normal production after the reline of the blast 
furnace and the operational disruptions at the Whyalla Steelworks in the first half of the 
previous financial year. Australian Distribution’s earnings fell from the previous financial 
year, partly reflecting lower dispatches of flat steel products.  International Distribution’s 
earnings were also down from the prior period as the pace of economic growth in New 
Zealand slowed.  

Balance Sheet
Total consolidated assets increased by 1.7% to $3,138.8 million with fixed assets increasing 
by $160.8 million primarily as a result of investment associated with Project Magnet, the 
commercialisation of OneSteel’s magnetite ore deposits. 

Total consolidated liabilities decreased by 3.6% to $1,637.2 million, driven by reductions in 
creditors and provisions partially offset by a moderate increase in borrowings.

Contributed equity increased by $18.3m largely attributable to the dividend reinvestment 
scheme. 

Cash Flow Statement
Consolidated net cash flow from operating activities increased by $14.9m to $250.8m, 
reflecting improved cash profits. 

Consolidated net cash outflow from investing activities of $219.0m was $97.2m higher 
than 2005, mainly due to higher capital expenditure related to Project Magnet. 

Consolidated net cash outflow from financing activities of $67.2m was lower than prior 
year $113.3m, which included the repayment of the securitisation facility, offset by higher 
finance lease repayments and dividend payments.

Dividends
The directors have recommended and declared a final fully franked dividend for 2006 of xx 
cents per share payable on 19 October 2006. 
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FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2006 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

Sales Revenue 3 4,004.6 3,938.5 - -
Cost of sales  (3,205.9) (3,151.5) - -
Gross profit  798.7 787.0 - -
Other revenue 3 28.2 31.8 12.6 154.0
Other income 3 10.8 2.8 - -
Operating expenses excluding finance costs and reversal of impairment loss 3 (535.2) (536.8) (3.2) (3.4)
Reversal of impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 3 -  65.2  -  - 
Finance costs 3 (56.7) (53.6) - -
Share of net profit of investment accounted for using the equity method 10 0.2 0.6 - -

Profit before income tax  246.0 297.0 9.4 150.6

Income tax expense  (60.8) (76.7) (3.5) (1.3)
Income tax benefit arising from tax consolidation  15.9 - - -
Total income tax expense 4 (44.9) (76.7) (3.5) (1.3)

Profit after tax  201.1 220.3 5.9 149.3

Profit attributable to minority interests  (13.6) (17.5) - -

Profit attributable to members of the parent 20 187.5 202.8 5.9 149.3

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 5 33.27 36.36
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 5 33.06 36.16

On operating activities before the benefit of tax consolidation
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 5 30.45
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 5 30.26

On operating activities before the benefit relating to the reversal of impairment loss
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 5  27.45
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 5  27.30

Dividends per share (cents per share) 22 14.5 13.0

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Income Statement.
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AS AT 30 JuNE 2006 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

ASSetS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 23 19.6 55.0 - - 
Receivables 6 635.4 643.1 178.5 227.4 
Derivative financial instruments 7 3.2 - - - 
Inventories 8 758.9 836.7 - - 
Other current assets 14 9.8 6.5 - - 

total Current Assets  1,426.9 1,541.3 178.5 227.4 

Non–current Assets
Investment accounted for using the equity method 10 7.3 7.3 - - 
Derivative financial instruments 7 4.2 - - - 
Other financial assets 9 7.1 8.8 1,088.6 1,086.8 
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,339.7 1,190.9 - - 
Mine development expenditures 12 60.2 44.9 - - 
Other intangibles and goodwill 13 220.2 226.7 - - 
Deferred tax assets 4 72.9 64.9 1.1 1.1 
Other Non–current assets 14 0.3 2.3 - - 

total Non–current Assets  1,711.9 1,545.8 1,089.7 1,087.9 

tOtAL ASSetS  3,138.8 3,087.1 1,268.2 1,315.3 

LIABILItIeS

Current Liabilities
Payables 15 545.4 615.7 - - 
Interest–bearing liabilities 16 60.1 48.8 - - 
Tax liabilities  27.5 17.4 27.8 17.6 
Provisions 17 160.5 166.0 - - 

total Current Liabilities  793.5 847.9 27.8 17.6 

Non–current Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 7 53.6 - - - 
Interest–bearing liabilities 16 598.3 651.5 - - 
Deferred tax liabilities 4 143.5 152.9 - - 
Provisions 17 35.0 35.5 - - 
Retirement benefit obligations 18 13.3 11.0 - - 

total Non–current Liabilities  843.7 850.9 - - 

tOtAL LIABILItIeS  1,637.2 1,698.8 27.8 17.6 

Net ASSetS  1,501.6 1,388.3 1,240.4 1,297.7 

eQUItY
Contributed equity 19 1,126.2 1,107.9 1,126.2 1,107.9 
Retained earnings 20 316.1 214.2 112.7 188.8 
Reserves 21 2.6 4.4 1.5 1.0 

Parent interests  1,444.9 1,326.5 1,240.4 1,297.7 
Minority interests  56.7 61.8 - - 

tOtAL eQUItY  1,501.6 1,388.3 1,240.4 1,297.7 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Balance Sheet.
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FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2006 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

  Inflows/(outflows)
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers  4,040.8 3,894.0 3.2 3.5 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (3,681.9) (3,556.2) (3.2) (3.5)
Interest received  2.4 2.4 9.4 4.5 
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (56.8) (50.2) - - 
Operating cash flows before income tax  304.5 290.0 9.4 4.5 

Income taxes paid  (53.7) (54.1) (1.6) (1.2)

Net operating cash flows 23(b) 250.8 235.9 7.8 3.3 

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (199.0) (114.2) - - 
Mine development expenditure  (12.8) (6.7) - - 
Purchases of finite–life intangibles  (2.6) (6.0) - - 
Dividends received  - - - 146.0 
Purchases of businesses 23(d) (13.2) (0.6) - - 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  6.7 4.9 - - 
Proceeds from repayment of preference shares by investment accounted for using the equity method  0.2 0.7 0.2 0.7 
Repayment of loan by non–related parties  1.7 0.1 - - 

Net investing cash flows  (219.0) (121.8) 0.2 146.7 

Cash flows from financing activities
Purchase of shares under equity–based compensation plans  (2.5) (6.4) (2.5) (6.4)
Proceeds from issue of shares  0.4 3.1 0.4 3.1 
Proceeds from borrowings  541.0 701.8 - - 
Repayment of borrowings  (509.9) (635.1) - - 
Settlement of the securitisation program  - (201.2) - - 
Proceeds from finance leases  - 105.6 - - 
Repayment of principal of finance leases  (21.0) (11.8) - - 
Repayment of loans from related party  - - 57.1 - 
Loan to related party  - - - (89.6)
Dividends paid  (75.2) (69.3) (63.0) (57.1)

Net financing cash flows  (67.2) (113.3) (8.0) (150.0)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (35.4) 0.8 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  55.0 54.2 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 23(a) 19.6 55.0 - - 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Cash Flow Statement.
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ATTRIBuTABLE TO EquITy hOLDERS OF ThE PARENT
MINORITy 

INTERESTS
TOTAL  

EquITy

2006 CONTRIBuTED EquITy    RESERvES

CONSOLIDATED

 Issued  
capital  

$m 

 Employee 
compensation 

shares  
$m 

 Total  
contributed  

equity  
$m 

 Retained 
earnings  

$m 

 Share–based 
payments  

$m 

 Foreign  
currency 

translation  
$m 

 Cash  
flow  

hedges  
$m 

 Total  
Reserves  

$m 

 Total  
Parent 

Interests  
$m $m $m 

At 1 July 2005 1,115.0 (7.1) 1,107.9 214.2 1.4 3.0 - 4.4 1,326.5 61.8 1,388.3
Adoption of AASB 139 (Note 33(d)) - - - (3.6) - - (1.7) (1.7) (5.3) - (5.3)
Cash flow hedges: 
- gains/(losses) taken to equity - - - - - - 5.6 5.6 5.6 - 5.6

Currency translation differences - - - - - (6.3) - (6.3) (6.3) (6.5) (12.8)

Total income and expense for the year recognised  
directly in equity - - - (3.6) - (6.3) 3.9 (2.4) (6.0) (6.5) (12.5)

Net Profit - - - 187.5 - - - - 187.5 13.6 201.1

Total income/expense for the period - - - 183.9 - (6.3) 3.9 (2.4) 181.5 7.1 188.6
Share–based payments expense - - - - 2.0 - - 2.0 2.0 - 2.0
Dividends paid - - - (82.0) - - - - (82.0) (12.2) (94.2)
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan 19.0 - 19.0 - - - - - 19.0 - 19.0
Shares issued on exercise of options 0.4 - 0.4 - - - - - 0.4 - 0.4
vested shares - 1.4 1.4 - (1.4) - - (1.4) - - -
Purchase of shares for equity–based compensation - (2.5) (2.5) - - - - - (2.5) - (2.5)

At 30 June 2006 1,134.4 (8.2) 1,126.2 316.1 2.0 (3.3) 3.9 2.6 1,444.9 56.7 1,501.6

ATTRIBuTABLE TO EquITy hOLDERS OF ThE PARENT
MINORITy 

INTERESTS
TOTAL  

EquITy

2005 CONTRIBuTED EquITy    RESERvES

CONSOLIDATED

 Issued  
capital  

$m 

 Employee 
compensation 

shares  
$m 

 Total  
contributed  

equity  
$m 

 Retained 
earnings  

$m 

 Share–based 
payments  

$m 

 Foreign  
currency 

translation  
$m 

 Cash  
flow  

hedges  
$m 

 Total  
Reserves  

$m 

 Total  
Parent 

Interests  
$m  $m $m 

At 1 July 2004 1,096.3 (2.3) 1,094.0 84.1 0.8 2.8 - 3.6 1,181.7 56.3 1,238.0
Currency translation differences - - - - - 0.2 - 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4

Total income and expense for the year recognised  
directly in equity - - - - - 0.2 - 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4

Net Profit - - - 202.8 - - - - 202.8 17.5 220.3

Total income/expense for the period - - - 202.8 - 0.2 - 0.2 203.0 17.7 220.7
Share–based payments expense - - - - 2.2 - - 2.2 2.2 - 2.2
Dividends paid - - - (72.7) - - - - (72.7) (12.2) (84.9)
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan 15.6 - 15.6 - - - - - 15.6 - 15.6
Shares issued on exercise of options 3.1 - 3.1 - - - - - 3.1 - 3.1
vested shares - 1.6 1.6 - (1.6) - - (1.6) - - -
Purchase of shares for equity–based compensation - (6.4) (6.4) - - - - - (6.4) - (6.4)

At 30 June 2005 1,115.0 (7.1) 1,107.9 214.2 1.4 3.0 - 4.4 1,326.5 61.8 1,388.3

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Changes in Equity.
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ATTRIBuTABLE TO EquITy hOLDERS OF ThE PARENT
MINORITy 

INTERESTS
TOTAL  

EquITy

2006 CONTRIBuTED EquITy    RESERvES

PARENT

 Issued  
capital  

$m 

 Employee 
compensation 

shares  
$m 

 Total  
contributed  

equity  
$m 

 Retained 
earnings  

$m 

 Share–based 
payments  

$m 

 Foreign  
currency 

translation  
$m 

 Cash  
flow  

hedges  
$m 

 Total  
Reserves  

$m 

 Total  
Parent 

Interests  
$m $m $m 

At 1 July 2005 1,115.0 (7.1) 1,107.9 188.8 1.0 - - 1.0 1,297.7 - 1,297.7
Total income and expense for the year recognised  
directly in equity - - - - - - - - - - -

Net Profit - - - 5.9 - - - - 5.9 - 5.9

Total income/expense for the period - - - 5.9 - - - - 5.9 - 5.9
Share–based payments - - - - 1.9 - - 1.9 1.9 - 1.9
Dividends paid - - - (82.0) - - - - (82.0) - (82.0)
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan 19.0 - 19.0 - - - - - 19.0 - 19.0
Shares issued on exercise of options 0.4 - 0.4 - - - - - 0.4 - 0.4
vested shares - 1.4 1.4 - (1.4) - - (1.4) - - -
Purchase of shares for equity–based compensation - (2.5) (2.5) - - - - - (2.5) - (2.5)

At 30 June 2006 1,134.4 (8.2) 1,126.2 112.7 1.5 - - 1.5 1,240.4 - 1,240.4

ATTRIBuTABLE TO EquITy hOLDERS OF ThE PARENT
MINORITy 

INTERESTS
TOTAL  

EquITy

2005 CONTRIBuTED EquITy    RESERvES

PARENT

 Issued  
capital  

$m 

 Employee 
compensation 

shares  
$m 

 Total  
contributed  

equity  
$m 

 Retained 
earnings  

$m 

 Share–based 
payments  

$m 

 Foreign  
currency 

translation  
$m 

 Cash  
flow  

hedges  
$m 

 Total  
Reserves  

$m 

 Total  
Parent 

Interests  
$m $m $m 

At 1 July 2004 1,096.3 (2.3) 1,094.0 112.2 0.7 - - 0.7 1,206.9 - 1,206.9
Total income and expense for the year recognised  
directly in equity - - - - - - - - - - -

Net Profit - - - 149.3 - - - - 149.3 - 149.3

Total income/expense for the period - - - 149.3 - - - - 149.3 - 149.3
Share–based payments - - - - 1.9 - - 1.9 1.9 - 1.9
Dividends paid - - - (72.7) - - - - (72.7) - (72.7)
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan 15.6 - 15.6 - - - - - 15.6 - 15.6
Shares issued on exercise of options 3.1 - 3.1 - - - - - 3.1 - 3.1
vested shares - 1.6 1.6 - (1.6) - - (1.6) - - -
Purchase of shares for equity–based compensation - (6.4) (6.4) - - - - - (6.4) - (6.4)

At 30 June 2005 1,115.0 (7.1) 1,107.9 188.8 1.0 - - 1.0 1,297.7 - 1,297.7

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Changes in Equity.
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NOTE 1. SUmmARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POLICIeS

Basis of preparation
This financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, and applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

The financial report of OneSteel Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006 was authorised 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 22 August 2006.

It is recommended that the financial report be considered together with any public 
announcements made by OneSteel Limited and its controlled entities during the year ended 
30 June 2006 in accordance with the continuous disclosure obligations of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value.

Statement of compliance
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which includes 
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“AIFRS”). Compliance 
with AIFRS ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes 
thereto, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

This is the first financial report prepared under AIFRS and comparatives for the year ended 
30 June 2005 have been restated accordingly, with the exception of those under AASB 132 
“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” and AASB 139 “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement” as OneSteel has taken the exemption available under AASB 1.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous AGAAP to AIFRS 
on the OneSteel Group’s equity and profit are provided in Note 33.

Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective
Except for the revised AASB 119 “Employee Benefits” (issued December 2004), Australian 
Accounting Standards that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 
have not been adopted for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2006. No changes 
to current accounting policies are anticipated on application of these issued or revised 
Standards. 

AASB 1 “First–time Adoption of Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards”
OneSteel has made the following elections in relation to the transitional exemptions 
permitted by the Accounting Standard AASB 1:

Business combinations
AASB 3 “Business Combinations” has not been applied retrospectively to past business 
combinations i.e. business combinations that occurred before the date of transition to 
AIFRS. Accumulated amortisation on goodwill arising on business combinations prior to 1 
July 2004 has therefore not been reversed. 

Property, plant and equipment
OneSteel has elected to use property, plant and equipment carrying values under AGAAP as 
“deemed cost” under AASB 116 “Property, Plant and Equipment” on transition to AIFRS.

Foreign currency translation
OneSteel has not elected to reset its foreign currency translation reserve on transition to 
AIFRS.

Defined benefit obligations
On transition to AIFRS, the cumulative actuarial losses to 1 July 2004 on the defined 
benefit section of the OneSteel Superannuation Fund have been recorded in Retained 
Earnings.

Financial instruments
OneSteel has elected to not apply the requirements of AASB 132 “Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure and Presentation” and AASB 139 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement” to its comparative information as the effective date is the first annual 
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated entity referred to as the OneSteel Group includes the parent entity, 
OneSteel Limited (“OneSteel”), and its controlled entities (together, the “OneSteel Group”). 
All inter–company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra–
group transactions, have been eliminated in full.

Where an entity either began or ceased to be controlled during the year, the results are 
included only from the date control commenced or up to the date control ceased. Control 
is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

Business combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, 
including business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, 
regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as 
the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Where equity instruments 
are issued in an acquisition, the fair value of the instruments is their published market price 
as at the date of exchange, unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated that the 
published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other 
evidence and valuations methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction 
costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in Equity. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective 
of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair 
value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If 
the cost of the acquisition is less than the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable 
net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income 
statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net 
assets acquired. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the 
future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate 
used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing 
could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. 

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on 
estimates and assumptions of future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have  
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NOTE 1. SUmmARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POLICIeS (CONtINUeD)
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets 
and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

(a) Impairment of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives
The Group determines whether goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are 
impaired on at least an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of 
the cash generating units to which the goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are 
allocated. The assumptions used in this estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying 
amount of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are detailed in Note 13.

(b) Provision for restoration and rehabilitation
Provision for restoration and rehabilitation obligations in relation to reclamation, site 
closure and other costs associated with the restoration of the mine sites in Whyalla requires 
an estimation of the costs incurred and the life of the mines. The assumptions used in the 
estimation of this provision are detailed in Note 17. 

(c) Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to 
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value is determined 
by an external valuer using a Monte–Carlo Simulation option pricing model, using the 
assumptions detailed in Note 28.

(d) Defined benefit plans
various actuarial assumptions are required when determining the Group’s pension schemes 
and post employment medical benefit obligations. These assumptions and the related 
carrying amounts are disclosed in Note 18.

Foreign currency

Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using 
exchange rates that approximate those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at reporting period end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the Income Statement, except when 
deferred in Equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Translation differences arising on non–monetary items such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

Translation of financial reports of overseas operations
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(‘the functional’ currency’). The functional currency of Steel & Tube holdings Limited 
(the principal overseas subsidiary within the OneSteel Group) is New Zealand dollars. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional 
and presentation currency of OneSteel Limited.

The net assets for all foreign operations are translated at the rates of exchange ruling as at 
the balance date. Equity items are translated at historical rates. The Income Statement is 
translated at a weighted average exchange rate for the year. Exchange differences arising 
on translation are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. On disposal of a 
foreign operation, the balance of the foreign currency translation reserve applicable to that 
operation is recognised directly in the Income Statement.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts 
disclosed as revenue earned from the sale of products or services are net of returns, trade 

allowances and duties. Sales revenue is recognised or accrued at the time of the provision 
of the product or service. The recognition criteria for sale of goods is when control of the 
goods has passed to the customer. The recognition criteria for rendering of services is upon 
delivery of the service to the customer.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues, taking into account of the effective yield on the 
financial asset.

Finance costs
Finance costs include interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to 
borrowings, amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with arrangement 
of borrowings and finance leases and net receipt or payment from interest rate swaps. 
Borrowing costs are expensed in the Income Statement, except where they relate to the 
financing of projects under construction, where they are capitalised up to the date of 
commissioning or sale.

Research expenditure
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of obtaining new scientific 
or technical knowledge and understanding, is recognised in the Income Statement as an 
expense when it is incurred.

Income taxes
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s 
taxable income based on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by 
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and the carrying amounts in the financial statements, 
and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rate 
expected to apply when the assets are recovered or the liabilities settled, based on those 
tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction at balance date. 
The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable 
temporary differences to measure the tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain 
temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability. No deferred 
tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in 
a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not 
affect either accounting profit or taxable profit and loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax 
losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary 
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities 
where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in Equity, are 
also recognised directly in Equity.

OneSteel Limited and its wholly–owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the 
tax consolidation legislation.

Goods and services tax (GSt)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense. Receivables and payables in the Balance Sheet are shown inclusive of GST.
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NOTE 1. SUmmARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POLICIeS (CONtINUeD)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and in banks and short–term deposits are stated at nominal value.
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes cash on hand and in banks with 
an original maturity of 3 months or less, together with money market investments which 
are readily convertible to cash, net of outstanding bank overdrafts, which are carried at the 
principal amount.

Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less a provision for 
any uncollectible debts. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised to the extent that there 
is objective evidence that the outstanding balance will not be able to be recovered. 
Bad debts are written off as incurred.

Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due.

Inventories
Inventories, including work in progress, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is determined primarily on the basis of average cost. For processed inventories, 
cost, which includes fixed and variable overheads, is derived on an absorption–costing basis.

Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of gains/losses on qualifying cash flow 
hedges of purchases of raw materials. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Other financial assets (investments)

Prior to 1 July 2005
OneSteel has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to not apply AASB 132 and 
AASB 139 to its comparative period.

Investments in both controlled entities and the unlisted shares of jointly controlled entities 
were carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount.

Adjustments on transition date: 1 July 2005
The nature of the main adjustments to make this information comply with AASB 132 and 
AASB 139 are that, with the exception of held to maturity investments and loans and 
receivables which are measured at amortised cost, fair value is the measurement basis. Fair 
value is inclusive of transaction costs. Changes in fair value are either taken to the Income 
Statement or an Equity Reserve. At the date of transition, changes to carrying amounts are 
taken to Retained Earnings or Reserves.

From 1 July 2005
The Group classifies investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair 
value through profit and loss; loans and receivables; held to maturity investments; and 
available for sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at 
initial recognition and re–evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in this category, and are classified 
as such if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the Income Statement. 

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non–derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income 
statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 
the amortisation process.

(c) Held to maturity investments
Non–derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are 
classified as held to maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. 

(d) Available for sale investments
Available for sale investments are those non–derivative financial assets that are designated 
as available for sale or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories. After 
initial recognition, available for sale investments are measured at fair value with gains 
or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is 
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time amounts 
previously reported in Equity are recognised in the Income Statement. 

Investments in controlled entities and jointly controlled entities
Investments in controlled entities and jointly controlled entities are carried at the lower of 
cost and recoverable amount in the separate financial statements of OneSteel Limited, the 
parent entity. 

Investment accounted for using the equity method (jointly controlled entity)
Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for in the parent entity financial 
statements using the cost method and in the consolidated financial statements by applying 
the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.

The Group’s share of the jointly controlled entity’s post–acquisition profits or losses is 
recognised in the Income Statement. Should the Group’s share of losses in a jointly controlled 
entity equal or exceed its interest in the entity, then no further losses are recognised.

Impairment of assets
Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the Income Statement for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value–in–use. This is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset’s value–in–use cannot be estimated to be close to its 
fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash flows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash–generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In assessing value–in–use, forecast future cash flows are discounted by the use of a pre–tax 
rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset or cash–generating unit(s).

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the Income Statement. After such a reversal, the 
depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.  
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NOTE 1. SUmmARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POLICIeS (CONtINUeD)
Goodwill is allocated to cash–generating units (or groups of such units), for the purpose of 
asset impairment testing. Each of the cash–generating units is no larger than a segment as 
classified by the primary reporting segments.

Leased assets
Operating lease assets are not capitalised and rental payments are charged to the Income 
Statement in the period in which they are incurred. Provision is made for future operating 
lease payments in relation to surplus lease space when it is first determined that the space 
will be of no probable future benefit. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability 
when received and subsequently reduced by allocating lease payments between rental 
expense and the liability. Where fixed rental increases are incorporated into operating lease 
terms, the rental expense is allocated on a straight–line basis over the lease period.

Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership of the leased item are classified as finance leases. These are initially recognised at 
the fair value of the leased asset, or if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments 
as determined at the inception of the lease. A lease liability of equal value is also recognised.

Capitalised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the 
assets and the lease term. Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest expense 
and reduction of the lease liability, with the interest expense calculated using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease and recognised directly in the Income Statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Valuation in financial statements
Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses and depreciated over their useful economic lives.

Disposals
Any gain or loss arising from disposal, calculated as the difference between net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is included in the Income Statement in the 
period in which the asset is disposed or derecognised.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation is provided on buildings, plant, machinery and other items used in producing 
revenue, at rates based on the useful life of the asset on a straight–line basis.

The following table indicates the typical expected economic lives of property, plant and 
equipment on which the depreciation charges are based:

Buildings: From 20 to 40 years
Plant and equipment: From 3 to 30 years
Capitalised leased assets: up to 30 years or life of lease, whichever is shorter.

The rates are reviewed and re–assessed periodically in the light of technical and economic 
developments.

The carrying amount of an asset (or groups of assets) is written down to its recoverable 
amount if, as a result of impairment testing, an indicator of impairment exists.

mine development expenditure

Pre-production expenditure
Mine development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area 
of interest. These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to 
be recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities in the 
area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of 
economically recoverable reserves.

Where the expenditure, together with the relevant development costs are capitalised, the 
amounts are amortised over the period of benefit. Each area of interest is reviewed regularly 
to determine its economic viability, and to the extent that it is considered that the relevant 
expenditure will not be recovered, it is written off in the year in which the shortfall is identified.

Mine development expenditure is amortised based on the estimated life of the reserves on a 
unit of production basis.

Deferred stripping costs
The costs associated with removing overburden from mines are initially capitalised as deferred 
stripping. The costs are then amortised to the Income Statement by allocating a cost to each 
tonne of ore mined, based on the waste to ore ratio of the mine over its entire life.

Goodwill and other intangible assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested 
annually for impairment.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets (including contingent liabilities), acquired at the time of acquisition of 
a business or shares in a controlled entity. 

Goodwill acquired in business acquisitions is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment 
losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill 
relating to the entity sold.

System development costs
Internally developed computer software and licences associated with major externally 
purchased software are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight–line method over 5 years.

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development expenditure is tested for 
impairment annually when the asset is not yet available for use, or more frequently when an 
indication of impairment arises during the reporting period.

Payables
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group 
prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid. These amounts are unsecured. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event and it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, the timing or amount of which is uncertain, but for which a 
reliable estimate can be made. The unwinding of any discount relating to the calculation of 
the carrying value of provisions is recognised as a borrowing cost.

A provision for dividend is not recognised as a liability unless the dividend is declared, 
determined or publicly recommended on or before the balance date.

employee benefits

Wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave
Provision is made for the liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to balance date. Employee benefits expected to be settled within one year, together 
with entitlements arising from wages and salaries and annual leave which will be settled after 
one year, are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus 
related on–costs. Other employee benefits payable later than one year, are measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.
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NOTE 1. SUmmARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POLICIeS (CONtINUeD)

Retirement benefit obligations
All employees of the Group are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death from 
the Group’s superannuation plan. The Group has a defined benefit section and a defined 
contribution section within its plan. The defined benefit section provides defined lump sum 
benefits based on years of service and final average salary. The defined contribution section 
receives fixed contributions from Group companies and the Group’s legal or constructive 
obligation is limited to these contributions.

A liability or asset in respect of the defined benefit section of the plan is recognised in the 
Balance Sheet, and is measured as the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using 
the projected unit credit method) at the reporting date plus unrecognised actuarial gains (less 
any unrecognised actuarial losses) less the fair value of the superannuation fund’s assets at 
that date and any unrecognised past service cost. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is based on expected future payments which arise from membership of the fund 
to the reporting date, calculated annually by independent actuaries. Consideration is given to 
expected future salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.

OneSteel has elected to apply AASB 119 “Employee Benefits” (issued in December 2004) 
to the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2005. This includes applying AASB 119 to 
the comparatives in accordance with AASB 108 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors”. The “corridor approach” is applied in determining the periodic 
impacton the Income Statement. under this approach, cumulative actuarial gains/losses 
greater than 10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation or 10% of the 
fair value of plan assets are recognised through the Income Statement over the average 
remaining service period of the employees in the plan on a straight–line basis.

Contributions to the defined contribution fund are recognised as an expense as they become 
payable.

equity–based compensation arrangements
The OneSteel Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) in the form of 
share–based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for 
rights over shares or options (equity–settled transactions). These rights are held in Trust and 
are subject to certain performance conditions.

OneSteel has applied the requirements of AASB 2 “Share–based Payments” to equity 
instruments granted after 7 November 2002 and that had not vested on or before  
1 January 2005.

The cost of these equity–settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to 
the fair value of the equity instruments or rights granted at the date of the grant. The fair 
value is determined by an external valuation using a Monte Carlo Simulation option pricing 
model. In valuing equity–settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance 
conditions, other than those conditions that are linked to the price of the shares of OneSteel 
Limited (market conditions).

The cost of the equity–settled transactions is recognised together with a corresponding 
increase in Equity, over the period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on 
the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity–settled transactions at each reporting date 
until vesting date reflects:

- the extent to which the vesting period has expired, and

-  the number of equity instruments that are estimated to ultimately vest, based on the best 
available information at the reporting date

This opinion is formed based on the best available information at balance date. No 

adjustment is made for the likelihood of market conditions being met, as the effect of these 
conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where 
vesting is solely based upon a market condition. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options, is reflected as additional share dilution in 
the computation of earnings per share.

Shares in the Group reacquired on–market and held by the OneSteel Employee Share Plan Trust 
are classified and disclosed as Employee Compensation Shares and deducted from Equity. 

Restoration and rehabilitation
Restoration costs which are expected to be incurred are provided for as part of the cost 
of the exploration, evaluation, development, construction or production phases that give 
rise to the need for restoration. The costs include obligations relating to reclamation, 
waste site closure, plant closure and other costs associated with the restoration of the 
site. These estimates of the restoration obligations are based on anticipated technology 
and legal requirements and future costs. In determining the restoration obligations, there 
is an assumption that no significant changes will occur in the relevant Federal and State 
legislation in relation to restoration in the future.

The estimated restoration costs for which the entity has a present obligation are discounted 
to their net present value. To the extent that the activity that creates this obligation relates 
to the construction of an asset, a corresponding amount is added to the related asset. 
Otherwise, the amount is incurred as a current period expense. 

Changes in the measurement of the existing provision that result from changes in the 
estimated timing or amount of cash flows, or a change in the discount rate, are adjusted 
on a prospective basis against the asset to which the restoration relates. Where the related 
asset has reached the end of its useful life, all subsequent changes in the provision are 
recognised in the Income Statement as they occur. 

The charge to the Income Statement is a combination of the depreciation of the asset over the 
estimated mine life and an interest expense representing the release of the discounting factor. 

Interest–bearing liabilities
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less any transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, borrowings are measured at amortised cost . Any difference between 
the proceeds (net of the transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in 
the Income Statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate 
method. Borrowings are classified as current Interest–bearing liabilities where there is an 
obligation to settle the liability within twelve months, and as Non–current Interest–bearing 
liabilities where the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least twelve months after the balance date.

Contributed equity

Issued capital
Issued and paid–up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by 
the company. Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 
directly in Equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received.

Ordinary share capital bears no special terms or conditions affecting income or capital 
entitlements of the OneSteel shareholders.

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding 
up of the company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on shares held.

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting 
of the company.
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NOTE 1. SUmmARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POLICIeS (CONtINUeD)

Employee compensation shares
Shares in the OneSteel Group purchased for equity based compensation arrangements are 
held in Trust and deducted from Contributed Equity in Employee Compensation Shares. upon 
vesting, the shares are transferred from Employee Compensation Shares into Other Reserves. 

These shares carry voting rights and the beneficial holder is entitled to any dividends paid 
during the vesting period. 

Derivative financial instruments

Prior to 1 July 2005
OneSteel has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 and AASB 
139 from 1 July 2005. The Group has applied previous AGAAP in the comparative 
information on financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139. 

(a) Forward exchange contracts
The Group enters into forward exchange contracts where by it agrees to buy or sell specified 
amounts of foreign currencies in the future at a predetermined exchange rate. The objective 
is to match the contract with anticipated future cash flows from sales and purchase in 
foreign currencies to protect the Group against the possibility of loss from future exchange 
rate fluctuations. Forward exchange contracts were recognised at the date the contract was 
entered into. Exchange gains/losses on forward exchange contracts were recognised in net 
profit except those relating to hedges of specific commitments, which were deferred and 
included in the measurement of the sale or purchase. 

(b) Interest rate swaps
The Group enters into interest rate swap agreements that are used to convert the variable 
interest rate of its borrowings to fixed interest rate. The swaps are entered into with 
the objective of reducing the risk of rising interest rates. It was OneSteel’s policy not to 
recognise interest rate swaps in the financial statements. Net receipts and payments were 
recognised as an adjustment to interest expense. 

(c) Cross–currency interest rate swaps
Cross–currency interest rate swaps are used to convert the fixed interest rate of its uSD 
denominated borrowings to AuD denominated variable rate. Cross–currency interest rate 
swaps were recognised on the balance sheet measured by reference to the exchange rate at 
balance date and classified as part of Non–current Interest–bearing liabilities. 

Adjustments at transition date: 1 July 2005
The nature of the main adjustments to ensure that the information complies with AASB 
132 and AASB 139 are that derivatives are measured on a fair value basis. Changes in fair 
value are taken to the Income Statement or an Equity reserve. At the date of transition, 
changes in the carrying amounts of derivatives have been taken to either Retained Earnings 
or Reserves, depending on whether the criteria for hedge accounting at balance date 
constituted either a fair value or a cash flow hedge.

From 1 July 2005
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date that a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently re–measured at fair value. The method of recognising 
the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative qualifies for hedge accounting, 
and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The OneSteel Group designates certain 
derivatives as either:

-  hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments - fair value 
hedges;

- hedges of highly probable forecast transactions - cash flow hedges

The OneSteel Group documents at inception of the transaction, the relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and 

strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The documentation includes 
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the 
risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in 
offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable 
to the hedged risk. The Group also documents its assessment, both at inception and on an 
on–going basis, of whether the hedges have been, and will continue to be, highly effective 
in offsetting changes in the fair values or the cash flows of hedged items throughout the 
financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges 
are recorded in the Income Statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset, liability or firm commitment that are attributable to the hedged risk. The 
Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting if the hedging instrument expires, or is sold, 
terminated or exercised, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the 
Group revokes the designation. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged financial 
instrument for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to the profit or loss. 

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and 
qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in Equity as a hedging reserve. The change in fair 
value relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Income Statement.

Amounts accumulated in Equity are recycled through the Income Statement in the periods 
when the hedged item affects profit or loss such as when hedged income or expenses are 
recognised or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. When the hedged item is the cost of 
a non–financial asset or liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred to the initial 
carrying amount of the non–financial asset or liability. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated or exercised without 
replacement or rollover, any amounts recognised in Equity remain in Equity until the 
forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
amounts recognised in Equity are immediately transferred to the Income Statement.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Certain derivatives instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair 
value of any such derivatives are recognised immediately in the Income Statement.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement and for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not traded in active markets is 
determined using valuation techniques. The OneSteel Group uses a variety of methods and 
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at balance date. quoted market 
prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long–term debt instruments 
held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine 
fair values of the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps 
is calculated as the present value of the estimated cash flows. The fair value of forward 
exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at balance date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure 
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current 
market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest hundred thousand 
dollars, unless specifically stated to be otherwise.
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NOTE 2. SeGmeNt INFORmAtION
     AuSTRALIA  INTERNATIONAL    CONSOLIDATED 

2006
 Manufacturing  

$m 
 Distribution   

$m
 unallocated   

$m
 Eliminations   

$m
 Total   

$m
 Distribution   

$m
 Eliminations   

$m
  

$m

Segment revenues
Revenues from customers outside  
the consolidated entity 1,812.1 1,802.2 - - 3,614.3 390.3 - 4,004.6 
Inter–segment revenues 266.9 17.8 12.8 (252.2) 45.3 - (45.3) - 
Other revenue/income 22.4 13.9 2.6 - 38.9 0.1 - 39.0 

Total income 2,101.4 1,833.9 15.4 (252.2) 3,698.5 390.4 (45.3) 4,043.6 

Share of net profit of investment accounted  
for using the equity method - - 0.2 - 0.2 - - 0.2 

Other non–cash expenses (7.6) (1.2) (1.9) - (10.7) (0.3) - (11.0)

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation & amortisation 225.8 146.1 (15.7) 3.9 360.1 48.7 (12.1) 396.7 
Depreciation and amortisation (61.3) (24.1) (3.6) - (89.0) (5.0) - (94.0) 

earnings before interest & tax 164.5 122.0 (19.3) 3.9 271.1 43.7 (12.1) 302.7 
Finance costs        (56.7) 
Income tax expense        (44.9) 

Profit after tax before minority interests        201.1 

Segment assets 1,786.2 1,087.6 60.7 (46.9) 2,887.6 175.1 (4.1) 3,058.6 
Investment accounted for using the equity method - - 7.3 - 7.3 - - 7.3 
Tax assets        72.9 

Consolidated assets        3,138.8 

Segment liabilities 410.8 266.4 768.4 (48.3) 1,397.3 68.9 - 1,466.2 
Tax liabilities        171.0 

Consolidated liabilities        1,637.2 

Non–current assets acquired 227.7 16.9 4.8 - 249.4 17.5 - 266.9 
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NOTE 2. SeGmeNt INFORmAtION
     AuSTRALIA  INTERNATIONAL    CONSOLIDATED 

2005
 Manufacturing  

$m 
 Distribution   

$m
 unallocated   

$m
 Eliminations   

$m
 Total   

$m
 Distribution   

$m
 Eliminations   

$m
  

$m

Segment revenues
Revenues from customers outside the consolidated entity 1,786.7 1,749.0 - - 3,535.7 402.8 - 3,938.5 
Inter–segment revenues 261.1 20.3 15.8 (252.3) 44.9 - (44.9) - 

Other revenue/income 17.9 14.0 2.2 - 34.1 0.5 - 34.6 

Total income 2,065.7 1,783.3 18.0 (252.3) 3,614.7 403.3 (44.9) 3,973.1 

Share of net profit of investment accounted  
for using the equity method - - 0.6 - 0.6 - - 0.6 

Other non–cash expenses (9.5) (2.4) (1.9) - (13.8) (0.3) - (14.1)

Reversal of impairment loss 65.2 - - - 65.2 - - 65.2 

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation & amortisation 249.5 164.3 (19.0) (1.6) 393.2 61.4 (12.3) 442.3 
Depreciation and amortisation (59.8) (23.8) (2.8) - (86.4) (5.3) - (91.7)

earnings before interest & tax 189.7 140.5 (21.8) (1.6) 306.8 56.1 (12.3) 350.6 
Finance costs        (53.6)
Income tax expense        (76.7)

Profit after tax before minority interests        220.3 

Segment assets 1,604.7 1,172.9 95.5 (47.8) 2,825.3 192.8 (3.2) 3,014.9 
Investment accounted for using the equity method - - 7.3 - 7.3 - - 7.3 
Tax assets        64.9 

Consolidated assets        3,087.1 

Segment liabilities 426.9 316.2 753.1 (43.1) 1,453.1 75.4 - 1,528.5 
Tax liabilities        170.3 

Consolidated liabilities        1,698.8 

Non–current assets acquired 108.7 13.6 16.0 - 138.3 5.2 - 143.5 

The Group’s primary segment reporting format is business segments as the Group’s risks 
and rates of return are predominantly affected by differences in the products produced. 
Secondary segment information is reported geographically. 

The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of 
the products provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers 
different products and serves different markets.

Segment activities - Australia
Manufacturing
Whyalla Steelworks produces steel billets as feedstock for OneSteel’s Market Mills 
operations together with rail products, structural steels and slabs for external sale. 

Sydney Steel Mill produces steel billets for the manufacture of reinforcing and bar products 
on its own rolling mills as well as steel billet to be used as feed in OneSteel’s other rolling 
facilities. 

Rod & Bar manufactures products in its Bar Mill and Rod Mill at Newcastle which are used in a 
range of applications such as manufacturing, construction, mining and automotive industries. 

Wire manufactures wire and steel rope for use in the construction, mining, manufacturing 
and agricultural industries from its mills at Newcastle and Geelong. 

The Reinforcing business manufactures and distributes reinforcing product around Australia. 

Distribution
OneSteel’s Distribution business has centres located throughout Australia in capital cities 
and regional areas, providing a wide range of products to resellers and end–users. Products 
include structural steel, steel plate, angles, channels, flat steel, reinforcing steel, sheet steel 
and coil, a range of aluminium products, pipes, fittings, valves and other industrial products. 

This includes the Pipe & Tube business, which manufactures product for the construction, 
mining, oil and gas and manufacturing industries from its mills at Newcastle, Melbourne, 
Port Kembla and Perth.

Segment activities - International
Distribution
This comprises the 50.3% shareholding in Steel and Tube holdings Limited, a public listed 
company in New Zealand, which processes and distributes a comprehensive range of steel 
and associated products in the construction, manufacturing and rural industries to the New 
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Zealand market. Products include specialist pipe, valves and fittings, metal fasteners, longrun roofing, cladding and rainwater systems, fabricated reinforcing steel and wire products.

NOTE 2. SeGmeNt INFORmAtION (CONtINUeD)

Intra/intersegment transfers
The Australian Manufacturing segment sells manufactured products such as structural steel, angles, channels, flats, reinforcing bar and mesh to the Australian Distribution and 
International Distribution segments. 

All sales between segments are conducted on an arms’ length basis, with terms and conditions no more favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect when dealing with an 
external party.

NOTE 3. PROFIt AND LOSS ItemS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

(a) Sales revenue
Product sales  4,001.4 3,934.9 - - 
Rendering of services  3.2 3.6 - - 
total sales revenue  4,004.6 3,938.5 - - 

(b) Other revenue
Interest received from unrelated parties  2.4 2.4 - - 
Interest received from controlled entities  - - 9.4 4.5 
Dividend revenue from controlled entities  - - - 146.0 
Rental revenue  0.8 2.9 - - 
Other revenue  25.0 26.5 3.2 3.5 
total other revenue  28.2 31.8 12.6 154.0 

tOtAL ReVeNUe  4,032.8 3,970.3 12.6 154.0 

(c) Other income
Net gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment  4.4 1.9 - - 
Net foreign exchange gains  - 0.9
Net gain on foreign currency derivatives not qualifying as hedges  1.3 - - - 
Net gains on qualifying fair value hedges through profit or loss (i)  0.1 - - - 
Insurance recovery 25(b) 5.0 - - - 
total other income  10.8 2.8 - - 

tOtAL INCOme  4,043.6 3,973.1 12.6 154.0 

(i) Comprised of
Gain on financial liability recorded at fair value  8.4 - - - 
Loss on cross–currency interest rate swap at fair value  (8.3) - - - 
   0.1 - - - 

(d) Profit from operating activities is after charging the following expenses: 
Manufacturing expenses  (94.0) (91.8) -  - 
Distribution expenses  (106.0) (105.2) -  - 
Marketing expenses  (101.6) (100.2) -  - 
Administrative expenses  (233.6) (239.6) (3.2)  (3.4) 
total operating expenses excluding finance costs and reversal of impairment loss  (535.2) (536.8) (3.2) (3.4)
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NOTE 3. PROFIt AND LOSS ItemS (CONtINUeD)
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

(e) Finance costs
Interest expense related to:
 Bank loans  51.7 44.2 - - 
 Finance leases  8.8 8.7 - - 
Amortisation of deferred borrowing costs  - 0.6 - -
Restoration and rehabilitation provision discount adjustment  0.6 0.6 - -
   61.1 54.1 - - 
Less: Borrowing costs capitalised(1)  (4.4) (0.5) - - 
Total finance costs  56.7 53.6 - - 
(1) weighted average interest rate of 6.3%.

(f) Depreciation, amortisation, foreign exchange differences and other items included  
in the income statement
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
 Buildings  9.3 9.1 - - 
 Plant and equipment  63.6 68.7 - - 
 Leased assets  11.0 7.8 - -
Amortisation of mine development expenditure  0.8 0.7 - - 
Amortisation of finite–life intangible assets  9.3 5.4 - - 
Bad debts written off  1.8 3.5 - - 
Write down of inventory to net realisable value  7.3 8.6 - - 
Minimum operating lease rentals  42.2 42.0 - - 
Research and development costs  54.8 55.3 - - 
Reversal of impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 11 - (65.2) - - 

(g) employee benefits expense
Included in employee benefits expense are the following items:
Defined contribution company contributions  32.1 33.1 - - 
Defined benefit plan expense 18 15.6 13.6 - - 
Employee provisions  84.4 84.4 - - 
Share–based payments expense  1.9 1.9 - - 

NOTE 4. INCOme tAX

(a) Income Statement
Current income tax charge  69.6 97.4 2.8 1.3
under/(over) provided in prior years  (6.2) (7.1) 0.7 -
Deferred tax relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences  (18.5) (13.6) - -
Income tax expense reported in the income statement  44.9 76.7 3.5 1.3

(b) Statement of Changes in equity

Deferred tax related to items charged/(credited) to Equity
Net gain on revaluation of cash flow hedges  2.4 - - -
Share–based payment  (0.1) (0.3) - -
Total deferred tax charged to Equity  2.3 (0.3) - -
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NOTE 4. INCOme tAX (CONtINUeD)
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

(c) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
Profit before tax  246.0 297.0 9.4 150.6
Prima facie income tax expense calculated at 30% (2005: 30%)  73.8 89.1 2.8 45.2
Adjustments in respect of income tax expense of previous years  (6.2) (7.1) 0.7 -
Share of net profit of associate  (0.1) (0.2) - -
Franking credits on dividends received  - - - (43.8)
Research and development allowance  (4.2) (6.4) - -
Capital gains non–taxable  (1.1) -
Non–deductible expenses  0.5 0.7
Other items  (3.1) (1.0) - (0.1)
Difference in overseas tax rates  1.2 1.6 - -
Reduction in deferred tax liability upon final reset tax values as a result of entry into tax consolidation 4(e) (15.9) - - -
Income tax expense reported in the income statement  44.9 76.7 3.5 1.3

(d) Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax recognised on the balance sheet at 30 June relates to the following:

Deferred tax liabilities
 Property, plant and equipment  121.2 134.0 - -
 Stores and spares  9.6 9.9 - -
 Deferred charges  9.0 7.5 - -
 Share–based payments  1.5 1.5 - -
 Derivative financial instruments  2.2 - - -
   143.5 152.9 - -

Deferred tax assets
 Employee provisions (including retirement benefit obligations)  50.7 47.5 - -
 Other provisions  10.9 11.9 - -
 Investments  1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1
 Other items  1.2 0.6 - -
 Property, plant and equipment  8.0 3.8 - -
 Derivative financial instruments  1.0 - - -
   72.9 64.9 1.1 1.1

At 30 June 2006, there is no recognised or unrecognised defered income tax liability (2005: $nil) for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s 
subsidiaries as the Group has no liability for additional taxation should such amounts be remitted.

(e) tax consolidation
OneSteel Limited and its wholly–owned Australian subsidiaries are a tax consolidated group. Members of the group have entered into a tax sharing agreement in order to allocate income 
tax to the wholly–owned subsidiaries on the same basis as if they were separate tax payers. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the 
entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. At the balance date, the possibility of default is remote. The head entity of the tax consolidated group is OneSteel 
Limited.

As a result of forming a tax consolidated group, a tax benefit of $19.8m was recognised in the 2004 year as a consequence of resetting tax values of certain assets in subsidiaries and 
which led to a reduction in deferred tax liabilities. 

For the year ended 30 June 2006, a further $15.9m was recognised as a tax benefit as a consequence of finalisation of the reset of tax values of certain assets in subsidiaries with a 
corresponding reduction in deferred tax liabilities and recognition of deferred tax assets. 
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NOTE 4. INCOme tAX (CONtINUeD)

(f) tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group
Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement provides for the allocation of current taxes to members of the tax 
consolidated group as if each entity in the tax consolidated group was a separate taxable entity in its own right. Deferred taxes are allocated to members of the tax consolidated group in 
accordance with the principles of AASB 112 “Income Taxes”. 

The allocation of current taxes is recognised as an increase/decrease in the subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the tax consolidated group head entity, OneSteel Limited.

NOTE 5. eARNINGS PeR SHARe
  CONSOLIDATED

    2006 2005 
    $m $m

The following reflects the earnings and share data used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

(a) earnings
Profit attributable to members of the parent    187.5 202.8
Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share    187.5 202.8

  NuMBER OF ShARES

(b) Number of ordinary shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share    563,477,532 557,796,324

Dilutive effect of executive share options(1)    355,447 542,717
Dilutive effect of employee compensation shares    3,146,736 2,478,712

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share    566,979,715 560,817,753

On operating activities before the benefit of tax consolidation(2)

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)    30.45 
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)    30.26 

On operating activities before the benefit relating to the reversal of impairment loss(3)

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)     27.45
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)     27.30

Issues after 30 June 2006
There have been no other subscriptions for ordinary shares or issues of potential ordinary shares since the reporting date and before the completion of this financial report.

(1) Executive share options relate solely to ordinary shares. All potential ordinary shares, being options to acquire ordinary shares, are considered dilutive.

(2) Impact of entering tax consolidation - 2006
 The calculation of earnings per share before the impact of tax consolidation was based on earnings of $171.6m arising from operating activities. The consolidation impact on earnings was an increase of $15.9m. 

(3) Reversal of impairment loss - 2005
 The calculation of earnings per share before the benefit relating to the reversal of impairment loss was based on earnings of $153.1m arising from operating activities. The impact of the reversal of the impairment loss was an increase of $49.7m after tax. 
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NOTE 6. ReCeIVABLeS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Current
 Trade debtors(1)  603.5 616.1 - - 
 Less: Provision for doubtful debts  (2.8) (3.6) - - 
   600.7 612.5 - - 
 Non–trade debtors  34.4 30.6  - 
 Interest–bearing loan to joint venture entity(2)  0.3 - - - 
 Loan to controlled entity(3)  - - 153.7 210.8 
 Tax related balances with controlled entities  - - 24.8 16.6 
   635.4 643.1 178.5 227.4 

(1) Trade debtors (excluding Metalcard receivables within the Australian Distribution operations) are non Interest–bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. 
 $26.6m (2005: $32.0m) of the Australian Distribution external trade debtors are known as Metalcard receivables whereby interest is charged on the outstanding balance at an average interest throughout the year of 11.2% (2005 10.9%). 

(2) An Interest–bearing loan at an average interest rate throughout the year of 6.45% (2005 6.45%)

(3) The parent entity loan to its controlled entity is interest bearing at an average rate throughout the year of 5.04% (2005 4.25%).

NOTE 7. DeRIVAtIVe FINANCIAL INStRUmeNtS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

Current Assets
Foreign exchange contracts(3) 31 3.2 - - -

Non–current Assets
Interest rate swaps(1) 31 4.2 -  -

Non–current Liabilities
Cross–currency interest rate swaps(2) 31 53.6 - - -

Instruments used by the Group
The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates in accordance with 
the Group’s financial risk management policies (refer to Note 31). 

(1) Interest rate swap contracts – Cash flow hedges
At 30 June 2006, the Group held 13 interest rate swap contracts, 6 of which have forward start dates, designated as hedges of interest rate risk whereby it receives variable rate equal to 
BBSW and pays a fixed interest rate. The 7 remaining interest rate swaps have a notional amount of $245.0m and pay a fixed interest rate of 5.4% on the notional amount. 

The swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the BBSW yield curve component of the interest rate that is equal to the repricing period on the interest rate swap 
designated as the hedging instrument in relation to its AuD denominated debt (Refer to Note 16). 

The cash flow hedge of the forecast interest cash flows were assesed to be highly effective and as at 30 June 2006, a net unrealised gain of $4.2m, with a related deferred tax charge of 
$1.2m is included in equity in respect of these contracts.

The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable at 90 day intervals. The contracts are settled on a net basis where master netting agreements are in place. 

The gain or loss from remeasuring hedge instruments at fair value is deferred in equity in the Cash Flow hedge Reserve, to the extent that the hedge is effective, and reclassified into profit 
and loss when the hedged interest expense is recognised. The ineffective portion is recognised in the Income Statement immediately.
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NOTE 7. DeRIVAtIVe FINANCIAL INStRUmeNtS (CONtINUeD)

(2) Cross–currency interest rate swap contracts – Fair value hedge
At 30 June 2006, the Group had a series of cross–currency interest rate swaps in place with a notional amount of uSD $128m where by it receives a fixed rate of interest of 5.2% in uSD 
and pays a floating rate of interest equal to BBSW in AuD on the notional amount quarterly. 
The swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of its uS private placement, fixed interest, uSD denominated senior notes raised in April 2003 (a seven–year 
tranche uSD$68m and a twelve–year tranche uSD$60m -refer to Note 16). Interest payments on the debt are made semi–annually.  
The expiration of the cross–currency interest rate swaps is matched to the expiry of the underlying debt.

(3) Forward exchange contracts
The OneSteel Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk through primary financial assets and liabilities and anticipated future transactions, modified through derivative financial 
instruments such as forward exchange agreements, currency options and currency swaps. 
Of this balance, $1.2m relate to hedges of highly probable or committed purchases for the ensuing financial year. The contracts are timed to mature when payments for the purchases are 
scheduled to be made. The cash flows are expected to occur at various dates of up to 6 months from the balance date. 
The following table summarises by currency the Australian dollar value of forward foreign exchange agreements and foreign currency options. Foreign currency amounts are translated at 
rates current at the reporting date. Gains or losses from remeasuring forward exchange contracts at fair value are recognised in the Income Statement, with the exception of those forward 
exchange contracts qualifying as cash flow hedges. The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be effective is recognised directly in Equity. When the 
transaction occurs, the initial measurement of the amount recognised in the balance sheet is adjusted by the related amount deferred in Equity. 
The “buy” amounts represent the Australian dollar equivalent of commitments to purchase foreign currencies. The “sell” amounts represent the Australian dollar equivalent of 
commitments to sell foreign currencies. Contracts to buy and sell foreign currency are entered into from time to time to offset purchase and sale obligations so as to manage the Group’s 
foreign exchange exposure. 

In 2005, the net fair value of open foreign exchange contracts was recorded in other receivables ($1.7m).
  2006 2005  2006  2005

   Buy SELL Buy SELL 
 AvERAGE ExChANGE RATE  $m $m $m $m

CURReNCY
united States Dollar
0 - 3 months  0.746 0.765 82.2 - 123.2 4.4 
Over 3 - 12 months  0.737 0.759 37.9 - 4.4 - 
    120.1 - 127.6 4.4 

Japanese yen
0 - 3 months  84.75 82.90 1.8 - 3.2 1.4 
Over 3 - 12 months  82.87 82.90 1.5 - 1.4 - 
    3.3 - 4.6 1.4 

New Zealand Dollar
0 - 3 months  1.204 1.074 1.2 8.7 - 10.2 
Over 3 - 12 months  - - - - - - 
    1.2 8.7 - 10.2 
Euro
0 - 3 months  0.602 0.600 9.0 - 9.7 - 
Over 3 - 12 months  0.598 0.624 2.7 - 4.0 - 
1 - 2 years  0.588 - 1.9 -
    13.6 - 13.7 - 

Swedish Kroner
0 - 3 months  5.483 - 2.3 - - - 
Over 3 - 12 months  - - - - - - 
    2.3 - - - 

Pounds Sterling
0 - 3 months  0.400 0.415 0.4 - 0.8 - 
Over 3 - 12 months  - - - - - - 
    0.4 - 0.8 - 
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NOTE 8. INVeNtORIeS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

CURReNt

Raw materials
At net realisable value  - 0.2 - - 
At cost  116.4 136.5 - - 
   116.4 136.7 - - 
Work in progress
At net realisable value  5.0 5.3 - - 
At cost  54.0 40.3 - - 
   59.0 45.6 - - 
Finished goods
At net realisable value  3.6 7.6 - - 
At cost  498.1 569.6 - - 
   501.7 577.2 - - 
Stores, spares and other
At net realisable value  1.0 1.1 - - 
At cost  80.8 76.1 - - 
   81.8 77.2 - - 
Total inventories
At net realisable value  9.6 14.2 - - 
At cost  749.3 822.5 - - 
   758.9 836.7 - - 

NOTE 9. OtHeR FINANCIAL ASSetS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

Non–current
Investments in controlled entities, net of impairment loss 26 - - 1,081.5 1,079.5 

Investment in unlisted jointly controlled entity - at cost(1) 10 - - 8.1 8.3 
Less: Provision for diminution  - - (1.0) (1.0)

Interest–bearing loan to jointly controlled entity  - 0.3 - - 
Investment in partnership(2)  7.1 8.5 - - 
   7.1 8.8 1,088.6 1,086.8 

(1) OneSteel Limited’s investment in the jointly controlled entity, Bekaert Australia Steel Cord Pty Limited.

(2) Represents OneSteel’s share in the partnership involved in the sale and leaseback of items of plant and equipment. 
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NOTE 10. INVeStmeNt ACCOUNteD FOR USING tHe eQUItY metHOD
   CONSOLIDATED

    2006 2005 
    $m $m

Investment in jointly controlled entity    7.3 7.3 

OneSteel Limited has a 50% interest in Bekaert Australia Steel Cord Pty Limited, a company incorporated in Australia involved in the manufacture of  
steel wire products. Its balance date is 31 December. 

There were no impairment losses relating to the investment and no capital committments or other committments relating to the entity.  
The following information illustrates summarised financial information relating to the Group’s investment in Bekaert Australia Steel Cord Pty Limited:

Share of the entity’s profit or loss:
Revenue    16.4 18.1 

Net profit before income tax    0.5 0.7 
Income tax expense attributable to net profit    (0.3) (0.1)
Net profit after income tax    0.2 0.6 

Share of the entity’s assets and liabilities
Current assets    5.9 6.7 
Non–current assets    9.5 10.1 
Current liabilities    (2.7) (3.1)
Non–current liabilities    (5.4) (6.4)
Net assets    7.3 7.3 

NOTE 11. PROPeRtY, PLANt AND eQUIPmeNt

  CONSOLIDATED

    Plant and Leased  
  Land Buildings Equipment assets Total 
2006 $m $m $m $m $m

movements in carrying amounts

Cost
Carrying value at the beginning of the year 63.4 295.1 1,376.8 113.9 1,849.2
Additions 0.7 2.1 235.5 - 238.3
Business assets acquired - - 0.9 - 0.9
Disposals (1.3) (0.8) (25.4) (2.2) (29.7)
Net foreign currency differences on translation of foreign operations (0.5) (1.7) (7.5) - (9.7)
Carrying value at the end of the year 62.3 294.7 1,580.3 111.7 2,049.0

Accumulated depreciation
Carrying value at the beginning of the year - (100.4) (550.1) (7.8) (658.3)
Depreciation - (9.3) (63.6) (11.0) (83.9)
Disposals - 0.4 25.0 2.0 27.4
Net foreign currency differences on translation of foreign operations - 0.3 5.2 - 5.5
Carrying value at the end of the year - (109.0) (583.5) (16.8) (709.3)
Net book value 30 June 2006 62.3 185.7 996.8 94.9 1,339.7   
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NOTE 11. PROPeRtY, PLANt AND eQUIPmeNt (CONtINUeD)

  CONSOLIDATED

    Plant and Leased  
  Land Buildings Equipment assets Total 
2005 $m $m $m $m $m

movements in carrying amounts

Cost
Carrying value at the beginning of the year 63.9 291.8 1,460.0 - 1,815.7
Additions 0.1 4.8 113.7 16.0 134.6
Business assets acquired - - 0.1 - 0.1
Disposals (0.6) (1.6) (21.1) - (23.3)
Transfer from plant and equipment to leased assets - - (176.1) 97.9 (78.2)
Net foreign currency differences on translation of foreign operations - 0.1 0.2 - 0.3
Carrying value at the end of the year 63.4 295.1 1,376.8 113.9 1,849.2

Accumulated depreciation
Carrying value at the beginning of the year, net of impairment - (100.8) (635.5) - (736.3)
Depreciation - (9.1) (68.7) (7.8) (85.6)
Reversal of impairment loss (a) - 8.7 56.5 - 65.2
Disposals - 0.8 19.5 - 20.3
Transfer from plant and equipment to leased assets - - 78.2 - 78.2
Net foreign currency differences on translation of foreign operations - - (0.1) - (0.1)
Carrying value at the end of the year - (100.4) (550.1) (7.8) (658.3)
Net book value 30 June 2005 63.4 194.7 826.7 106.1 1,190.9

(a) Reversal of impairment loss on property, plant and equipment - 2005
As a result of impairment testing performed on transition to AIFRS at 1 July 2004, an impairment loss of $71.0m was recognised to reduce certain items of property, plant and equipment 
to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount estimation was based on value in use and was determined at the cash generating unit level, being assets relating to the Australian 
Manufacturing Segment as disclosed in Note 2. This adjustment was recognised in retained earnings on transition. The impairment loss was allocated to the assets of the cash generating 
unit (excluding goodwill) on a pro–rata basis with the carrying amounts of those assets. 

As a result of the inclusion of forecasted cash flows related to Project Magnet and improved economic outlook of the Australian economy used in the impairment testing performed at  
30 June 2005 to determine the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit, the impairment loss arising on plant and equipment was subsequently reversed. The impairment reversal 
was allocated to the assets of the cash generating unit (excluding goodwill) on a pro–rata basis with the carrying amounts of those assets and recognised in the Income Statement. 

In allocating the reversal of the impairment loss, the carrying amounts of the assets have not been increased above the lower of their recoverable amount and the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of amortisation or depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset on transition.

In determining value in use for the cash generating unit, the cash flows were discounted at at rate of 13% (2005) on a pre–tax basis.
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NOTE 12. mINe DeVeLOPmeNt eXPeNDItUReS

  CONSOLIDATED

   Deferred Pre–production   
   stripping expenditure Total 
2006   $m $m $m

movements in carrying amounts

Cost
Carrying value at the beginning of the year   24.3 23.7 48.0
Net deferral   3.3 - 3.3
Additions   - 12.8 12.8
    27.6 36.5 64.1

Accumulated amortisation
Carrying value at the beginning of the year   - (3.1) (3.1)
Amortisation   - (0.8) (0.8)
    - (3.9) (3.9)
Net carrying amount 30 June 2006   27.6 32.6 60.2

  CONSOLIDATED

   Deferred Pre–production   
   stripping expenditure Total 
2005   $m $m $m

movements in carrying amounts

Cost
Carrying value at the beginning of the year   27.6 17.0 44.6
Net deferral   (3.3) - (3.3)
Additions   - 6.7 6.7
    24.3 23.7 48.0

Accumulated amortisation
Carrying value at the beginning of the year   - (2.4) (2.4)
Amortisation   - (0.7) (0.7)
    - (3.1) (3.1)
Net carrying amount 30 June 2005   24.3 20.6 44.9
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NOTE 13. OtHeR INtANGIBLeS AND GOODWILL

  CONSOLIDATED

    Software 
    development   
   Goodwill costs Total 
2006   $m $m $m

movements in carrying amounts

Cost
Carrying value at the beginning of the year   192.7 47.4 240.1
Additions   - 2.6 2.6
Business assets acquired   1.8 - 1.8
Net foreign currency differences on translation of foreign operations   (1.6) - (1.6)
    192.9 50.0 242.9

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Carrying value at the beginning of the year   - (13.4) (13.4)
Amortisation   - (9.3) (9.3)
    - (22.7) (22.7)
Net carrying amount 30 June 2006   192.9 27.3 220.2

  CONSOLIDATED

    Software 
    development   
   Goodwill costs Total 
2005   $m $m $m

movements in carrying amounts

Cost
Carrying value at the beginning of the year   192.5 41.4 233.9
Additions   - 6.0 6.0
Business assets acquired   0.2 - 0.2
    192.7 47.4 240.1

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Carrying value at the beginning of the year, net of impairment   - (8.0) (8.0)
Amortisation   - (5.4) (5.4)
    - (13.4) (13.4)
Net carrying amount 30 June 2005   192.7 34.0 226.7

Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations have been allocated to the following groups of cash generating units (CGus), which are reportable segments, for impairment testing as 
follows: 

- Australian Distribution
- International Distribution

Australian Distribution
The recoverable amount of the Australian Distribution unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using the cash flow projections based on the 5 year forecast approved 
by the Board. 

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 12.8% (2005: 13%), and cash flows beyond the 5 year period are extrapolated using the average of the cashflows from years 1 to 5. 

The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Distribution unit beyond the five year period is 2% (2005: nil). This growth rate does not exceed the growth rate of the market to 
which the group of CGus is dedicated.
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NOTE 13. OtHeR INtANGIBLeS AND GOODWILL (CONtINUeD)

International Distribution
The recoverable amount of the International Distribution unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using the cash flow projections based on the 5 year forecast 
approved by the Board. 

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 12.8% (2005: 13%), and cash flows beyond the 5 year period are extrapolated using the average of the cashflows from years 1 to 5. 

The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the International Distribution unit beyond the five year period is 2% (2005: nil). This growth rate does not exceed the growth rate of 
the market to which the CGu is dedicated.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations for the cash generating units for 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections when determining the value in use for its cash generating units:

Australian economic conditions - assumptions including GDP, CPI and wages escalation are consistent with external sources of information. 

Market conditions - assumptions on key domestic market segment activity including construction, mining, agriculture and manufacturing are consistent with external sources of 
information. 

Exchange rates - long term forecast AuD/uSD and NZD exchange rates are used which are consistent with external sources of information. 

Raw materials prices - values assigned to this key assumption are consistent with external sources of information except for OneSteel owned mines where the value assigned is in line with 
mining contracts and other cost escalators such as oil. 

Manufacturing prices - values assigned are influenced by raw material prices and international steel prices. These are consistent with external sources of information.

Budgeted margins - the basis used to determine the value assigned to the margins in the Australian Distribution and International Distribution CGus are the actual margins achieved 
increased for expected efficiency improvements. Thus, values assigned reflect past experience and efficiency improvements. 

Bond rates - the 90 day bank bill rate is used.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash generating units

    International  
  Manufacturing Distribution Distribution Total 
2006  $m $m $m $m

Carrying amount of goodwill  - 180.1 12.8 192.9

   
2005

Carrying amount of goodwill  - 178.6 14.1 192.7

NOTE 14. OtHeR ASSetS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Current
Deferred borrowing costs(1)  - 0.6 - -
Prepayments  9.8 5.9 - -
   9.8 6.5 - -

Non–current
Deferred borrowing costs(1)  - 1.8 - -
Prepayments  0.3 0.5 - -
   0.3 2.3 - -

(1) From 1 July 2005, deferred borrowing costs have been classified as a reduction in Interest–bearing liabilities.
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NOTE 15. PAYABLeS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Trade creditors(1)  474.2 551.5 - -
Other creditors and accruals  71.2 64.2 - -
   545.4 615.7 - -

(1) Trade creditors are non Interest–bearing and are generally settled on 30 to 60 day terms. Other creditors are non Interest–bearing.

NOTE 16. INteReSt–BeARING LIABILItIeS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

Current
Finance lease liability(1) 24 29.7 21.0 - -
Short–term unsecured borrowings
Bank loans(2)  24.4 27.8 - -
Bank loans(3)  6.0 -
   60.1 48.8 - -

Non–current
Finance lease liability(1) 24 59.8 89.5 - -
Long–term unsecured borrowings
Bank loans(4) 7, 31 381.2 353.7 - -
uS Private placement(5) 7, 31 157.3 169.6 - -
Other
Loss on cross currency hedge(6)  - 38.7 - -
   598.3 651.5 - -

OneSteel has elected not to apply the requirements of AASB 132 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” and AASB 139 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement” to its comparative information as the effective date is the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

(a) Financing Arrangements

 CONSOLIDATED

 Accessible Drawn Down unused 
2006 $m $m $m

uS Private placement(5) 157.3 157.3 -
Bank loan facilities(7) 1,063.3 405.6 657.7
Bank overdraft(8) 15.0 - 15.0
Total financing facilities 1,235.6 562.9 672.7

 CONSOLIDATED

 Accessible Drawn Down unused 
2005 $m $m $m

Working capital facilities 25.0 - 25.0
uS Private Placement 169.6 169.6 -
Bank loan facilities 1,067.5 381.5 686.0
Bank overdraft 15.7 - 15.7
Total financing facilities 1,277.8 551.1 726.7
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NOTE 16. INteReSt–BeARING LIABILItIeS (CONtINUeD)
 (1)  The finance lease liabilities relate to a sale and leaseback arrangement for certain items of manufacturing plant and equipment and for the purchase of mining equipment. The sale and leasback arrangement has a five year life. The mining equipment has a lease term of 

two years. The average discount rate implicit in the leases is 9.6%.

(2) Represents at call borrowings provided to Steel & Tube holdings Group by the ANZ Bank and the National Bank of New Zealand at an average interest rate of 7.4% (2005: 7.1%).

(3) Represents short–term borrowings at an average interest rate of 5.8%. 

(4) Bank loans consist of the following:
 (i)  Drawdowns of $370m of loans provided to the OneSteel Group by a syndicate of banks. The loans have an average interest rate of 6.2% with repayment dates of September 2007 ($170m) and May 2008 ($200m). The bank loans are subject to the 

terms and conditions of the loan agreements with the banks.
 (ii)  The balance of the bank loans comprises $12.2m (NZ$15m) of loans provided to Steel & Tube holdings Group by the ANZ Bank and the National Bank of New Zealand with an average interest rate of 7.1% and repayment dates of April 2009 ($4.1m/

NZD$5m) and March 2010 ($8.1m/NZD$10m). 

(5)  uS Private Placement undertaken in April 2003 (uSD$128m). This consists of a fixed interest seven year tranche (uS$68m) repayable in April 2010 and twelve year tranche (uS$60m) repayable in April 2015. This has been hedged using a series of cross–currency 
interest rate swaps - refer to Note 7 Derivative Financial Instruments for further details on the cross–currency interest rate swap and Note 31 Financial Instruments. 

(6) In 2005, the cross–currency interest rate swap hedging the uS Private Placement at (5) was classified as an Interest–bearing liability. 

(7)  Revolving credit facilities available in three tranches - a three year tranche ($300m) to be repaid September 2007, a five year tranche ($300m) to be repaid September 2009 and a seven year tranche ($200m) to be repaid September 2011 together with other bilateral 
facilities with expiry dates of up to two years. The balance of the facility comprises $7.3m (NZD$9m) subject to annual review, $28.5m (NZD$35m) expiring March 2008, $28.5m (NZD$35m) expiring March 2010 provided to Steel Tube holdings Group.

(8) Expiry date October 2006.

NOTE 17. PROVISIONS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Current
Employee benefits  152.6 149.2 - - 
Restoration and rehabilitation(1)  0.4 0.6 - - 
Other provisions  - 1.1
Customer claims(2)  7.5 15.1 - - 
   160.5 166.0 - - 

Non–current
Employee benefits  22.4 23.2 - - 
Restoration and rehabilitation(1)  12.6 12.3 - - 
   35.0 35.5 - - 

  Customer Restoration and   
  claims rehabilitation Other Total 
2006  $m $m $m $m

movements in carrying amounts
Carrying value at the beginning of the year  15.1 12.9 1.1 29.1 
Additional amounts provided  - - - - 
utilised  (1.1) (0.5) (0.2) (1.8)
Reversal of unused amounts  (6.5) - (0.9) (7.4)
unwinding of discount to present value  - 0.6 - 0.6 
Discount rate adjustment  - - - - 
Carrying value at the end of the year  7.5 13.0 - 20.5 

(1) Provision for restoration and rehabilitation
 Restoration and rehabilitation provisions comprise obligations relating to reclamation, site closure and other costs associated with restoration of the mine sites in Whyalla. 
 Because of the long term nature of the liability, there is uncertainty in estimating the costs that will ultimately be incurred. The provision has been calclated using a discount rate of 5.7%. 

(2) Provision for customer claims
 The customer claims provision relates to estimates of settlement with customers for faulty or defect product and/or legal costs associated with such claims.
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NOTE 18. RetIRemeNt BeNeFIt OBLIGAtIONS

The OneSteel Group participate in a number of superannuation funds in Australia and New Zealand. The funds provide benefits either on a defined benefit or cash accumulation basis, for 
employees on retirement, resignation, disablement, or to their dependants on death. 

Accumulation funds
The benefits provided by accumulation funds are based on contributions and income thereon held by the fund on behalf of the member. Contributions are made by the member and the 
company based on a percentage of the member’s salary, as specified by the fund rules. These contributions are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Contributions by the 
group of 9% of employee’s wages and salaries are legally enforceable in Australia. 

Defined benefit funds
The Group has one superannuation plan with a defined benefit section and a defined contribution section. The benefits provided by the defined benefits section of the plan are based on 
the length of service or member and the salary of the member at or near retirement. Member contributions, based on a percentage of salary, are specified by the fund rules. The defined 
benefit section has been closed to new members since 1997. 

Employer contributions are made each month to the fund in accordance with the advice of the actuary to the fund, at levels deemed to be adequate to fund benefit payments in accordance 
with the fund’s Trust Deed. These contributions are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

The following tables summarise the components of the net defined benefit expense recognised in the consolidated income statement and the funded status and amounts recognised in the 
consolidated balance sheet for the respective plans. 

  CONSOLIDATED

     Defined benefits
    2006 2005 
    $m $m

Net defined benefit expense
Current service cost    17.6 14.2
Interest cost on benefit obligation    13.3 14.9
Expected return on plan assets    (19.8) (19.6)
Salary sacrifice contributions    4.5 4.1
Net actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in the year    - -
Past service cost    - -
Effect of curtailments and settlements    - -
Net defined benefit expense    15.6 13.6
Actual return on plan assets    60.1 30.6

Defined benefit liability included in the balance sheet
Fair value of plan assets    348.2 302.1
Present value of defined benefit obligation    (340.8) (316.6)
Surplus/(Deficit) at the end of the year    7.4 (14.5)
Net actuarial (gains)/losses not yet recognised    (20.7) 3.5
Net defined benefit liability - Non–current    (13.3) (11.0)

The Group has no legal obligation to settle the defined benefit superannuation liability with an immediate contribution or additional one–off contributions. The Group intends to continue to 
contribute to the defined benefit section of the plan at a rate of 13.5% of salaries in line with the actuary’s latest recommendations.
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NOTE 18. RetIRemeNt BeNeFIt OBLIGAtIONS
  CONSOLIDATED

     Defined benefits
    2006 2005 
    $m $m

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
Opening defined benefit obligation    316.6 300.8
Interest cost    13.3 14.9
Current service cost    17.6 14.2
Contributions by plan participants    5.2 4.9
Benefits paid    (28.0) (32.7)
Actuarial losses on obligation    16.1 14.5
Closing defined benefit obligation    340.8 316.6

Changes in the fair value of plan assets
Opening fair value of plan assets    302.1 289.2
Expected return    19.8 19.6
Contributions by employer    13.3 14.2
Contributions by plan participants    0.7 0.8
Benefits paid    (28.0) (32.7)
Actuarial gains    40.3 11.0
Fair value of plan assets    348.2 302.1

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows:
  CONSOLIDATED

     Defined benefits
    2006 2005 
    % %

Australian equities    39.0 36.5
International equities    23.7 24.8
Property    8.6 8.4
Bonds    28.7 27.5
hedge funds    - 2.8

The expected rate of return on assets has been based on historical and future expectations of returns for each of the major categories of asset classes as well as the expected and actual 
allocation of plan assets to these major categories. 

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining defined benefit obligations for the Group’s defined benefit plan is shown below:
  CONSOLIDATED

     Defined benefits
    2006 2005 
    %pa %pa

Discount rate    5.8 5.1
Expected rate of return on assets    7.0 6.8
Future salary increases    5.0 4.5
CPI Inflation    3.0 2.5

employer contributions
Employer contributions to the defined benefit section of the superannuation plan are based on recommendations by the plan’s actuary. Actuarial assessments are made annually, and the 
last such assessment was made as at 30 June 2006.

The objective of funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlements of members and other beneficiaries are fully funded by the time they become payable. To achieve this objective, the 
actuary has adopted a method of funding benefits known as the aggregate funding method. This funding method seeks to have benefits funded by means of a total contribution which is 
expected to be a constant percentage of member’s salaries over their working lives. 
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NOTE 18. RetIRemeNt BeNeFIt OBLIGAtIONS (CONtINUeD)

using the funding method described above and the actuarial assumptions as to the plan’s future experience, the plan’s actuary has not recommended that additional contributions beyond 
the current contribution level be made. 

Total employer contributions expected to be paid by Group companies for the year ending 30 June 2007 are $9.3m.

Funding recommendations made by the actuary are based on assumptions of various matters such as future salary levels, mortality rates, membership turnover and interest rates. 
Details of the Group’s defined benefit section of the plan as extracted from the plan’s most recent financial report at 30 June 2005 are as follows:
     Defined benefits
     2005 
     $m

Accrued benefits     303.9
Net market value of plan assets     306.4
Surplus of net market value of plan assets over accrued benefits     2.5

In accordance with AAS 25 Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans, the plan’s net financial position is determined as the difference between the present value of the accrued benefits 
and the net market value of plan assets.

The surplus, as at 30 June 2005, under AAS 25 differs from the net liability of $11.0m recognised in the balance sheet at 30 June 2005 due to different measurement rules in the 
relevant accounting standards AAS 25 and AASB 119 “Employee Benefits” and different measurement dates. 

The principal financial assumptions used in the most recent funding valuation are as follows:
     Defined benefits 
      superannuation plan
     2005 
     %pa

Investment returns     7.0
Future salary increases     4.5

Historic summary
     Defined benefits
    2006 2005 
    $m $m

Defined benefit plan obligation    340.8 316.6
Plan assets    348.2 302.1
Surplus/(deficit)    7.4 (14.5)
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities    (18.2) (4.8)
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets    40.3 11.0

Information for years prior to 2005 is not available.
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NOTE 19. CONtRIBUteD eQUItY
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

Contributed equity
Issued capital (a)  1,134.4 1,115.0 1,134.4 1,115.0
Employee compensation shares (b)  (8.2) (7.1) (8.2) (7.1)
Total contributed equity  1,126.2 1,107.9 1,126.2 1,107.9

(a) Share capital
Number of ordinary shares: 569,252,175 (2005: 563,821,883)
Issued and paid–up  1,134.4 1,115.0 1,134.4 1,115.0

(b) employee compensation shares
Number of ordinary shares:  3,042,907 (2005: 2,999,565)
Shares held in Trust under equity–based compensation arrangements  (8.2) (7.1) (8.2) (7.1)

 NuMBER OF  vALuE OF 
 ORDINARy ShARES  ORDINARy ShARES

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
    $m $m

movements in issued capital for the period
On issue at the beginning of the year  563,821,883 554,882,602 1,115.0 1,096.3
Issued during the year:
 From the exercise of options(1),(3)  396,314 3,410,111 0.4 3.1
 under a Dividend Reinvestment Plan(2)  5,033,978 5,529,170 19.0 15.6
On issue at the end of the year  569,252,175 563,821,883 1,134.4 1,115.0

movements in employee compensation shares for the period
held in Trust at the beginning of the year  (2,999,565) (2,135,020) (7.1) (2.3)
Shares vested and transferred to Other Reserves 21 689,367 1,602,319 1.4 1.6
Shares purchased on–market  (732,709) (2,466,864) (2.5) (6.4)
held in Trust at the end of the year  (3,042,907) (2,999,565) (8.2) (7.1)

(1) Issued from the exercise of options under the Executive Long Term Incentive Plan - refer to Note 28 Employee Benefits. 

(2) The dividend reinvestment plan provides shareholders with an opportunity to acquire additional ordinary shares in lieu of cash dividends. Shares were issued at $3.62 (October 2005) and $4.01 (April 2006). 

(3) Due to the suspension of the option section of the Executive Long Term Incentive Plan, there were no options issued during the year. 

terms and conditions of contributed equity
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up of the company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on shares held. 

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.



O
n

eS
teel Fu

ll Fin
an

cial R
ep

o
rt 2

0
0

6

43

n
o

t
es

 to
 t

h
e F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

 S
t

A
t

e
m

e
N

t
S

 

NOTE 20. RetAINeD eARNINGS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Balance at the beginning of the year  214.2 84.1 188.8 112.2
First time adoption of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  (3.6) - - -
Net profit  187.5 202.8 5.9 149.3
Dividends paid  (82.0) (72.7) (82.0) (72.7)
Balance at the end of the year  316.1 214.2 112.7 188.8

NOTE 21. ReSeRVeS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Note $m $m $m $m

Foreign currency translation reserve  (3.3) 3.0 - -
Cash flow hedge reserve  3.9 - - -
Share based payments reserve  2.0 1.4 1.5 1.0
   2.6 4.4 1.5 1.0

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year  3.0 2.8 - -
Exchange fluctuations on overseas net assets  (6.3) 0.2 - -
Balance at the end of the year  (3.3) 3.0 - -

(b) Cash flow hedge reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year  - - - -
Application of AASB 132 and 139  (1.7) - - -
Gains/(losses) taken to equity  5.6 - - -
Transferred to profit  - - - -
Balance at the end of the year  3.9 - - -

(c) Share–based payments reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year  1.4 0.8 1.0 0.7
Expense recognised  2.0 2.2 - -
Contribution to subsidiary  - - 1.9 1.9
Transfer from employee compensation shares 19 (1.4) (1.6) (1.4) (1.6)
Balance at the end of the year  2.0 1.4 1.5 1.0

Nature and purpose of reserves

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries. 

Cash flow hedge reserve
The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record the portion of the gain or loss on a hedge instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge. 

Share–based payments reserve
The share–based payments reserve is used to record the value of equity based compensation provided to employees and senior executives as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 28 
for further details of these plans.
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NOTE 22. DIVIDeNDS
The following dividends have been paid, declared or recommended since the end of the preceding financial year:
    On ordinary Dividend per 
    shares ordinary share 
2006    $m $

Interim fully franked dividend for 2006, paid 20 April 2006    39.7 0.07
Final fully franked dividend for 2005, paid 20 October 2005    42.3 0.075
     82.0 0.145

2005

Interim fully franked dividend for 2005, paid 21 April 2005    33.7 0.06
Final fully franked dividend for 2004, paid 14 October 2004    39.0 0.07
     72.7 0.13

Dividends not recognised at year end
In addition to the above dividends, since year end the directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend of 10 cents per fully paid ordinary share (2005 - 7.5 cents) fully 
franked based on tax paid at 30%. The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to be paid on 19 October 2006 but not recognised as a liability at year end is $56.9m  
(2005 - $42.3m).

Dividend Franking
All dividends paid were fully franked. The tax rate at which dividends have been franked is 30%.
  PARENT

    2006 2005 
    $m $m

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year,  
represented by the franking account balance at 30% are:    13.4 3.5

The balance of the franking account balance at year end has been adjusted for franking credits arising from payment of provision for income tax and  
dividends recognised as receivables, franking debits arising from payment of proposed dividends and franking credits that may be prevented from  
distribution in subsequent financial years.

NOTE 23. NOteS tO tHe CASH FLOW StAtemeNt
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

(a) Reconciliation to Cash Flow Statement
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement, is reconciled to the  
related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  19.6 55.0 - -
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NOTE 23. NOteS tO tHe CASH FLOW StAtemeNt (CONtINUeD)
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

(b) Reconciliation of profit after tax to net cash flows from operations
Profit after tax  201.1 220.3 5.9 149.3
Adjusted for non–cash items
Depreciation and amortisation  94.0 91.7 - -
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (4.4) (1.9) - -
Share of net profit of investment accounted for using the equity method  (0.2) (0.6) - -
Reversal of impairment loss  - (65.2) - -
Net fair value change on derivatives  0.9 - - -
Share based payment expense  1.9 1.9 - -
Finance costs  0.7 0.6 - -
Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of purchase and sale of controlled entities and businesses
(Increase)/decrease in receivables  4.6 (76.2) (8.3) (146.9)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  88.2 (131.8) - -
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax balances  (8.1) 25.3 - -
(Increase)/decrease in other assets  (5.3) 4.5 - -
Increase/(decrease) in tax provisions  (0.7) (2.7) 10.2 0.9
Increase/(decrease) in payables  (118.2) 160.0 - -
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (3.7) 10.0 - -
Net cash flow from operations  250.8 235.9 7.8 3.3

(c) Non–cash investing and financing activities
During the year, dividends of $19.0m (2005: $15.6m) were paid via the issue of shares under a dividend reinvestment plan (refer Note 19). 

In 2005, plant and equipment with an aggregate value of $16.0m was acquired by means of finance leases. These acquisitions are not reflected in the cash flow statement.

(d) Acquisition of businesses
Assets arising as a result of minor business acquisitions made by the OneSteel Group during the year were as follows:
 CONSOLIDATED 

  2006 2005  
ASSETS AND CONSIDERATION GIvEN  $m $m

Minor business acquisitions
Cash consideration paid  13.2 0.6

the carrying amounts of assets acquired by major class are:
Inventories  10.5 0.3
Plant and equipment  0.9 0.1
Goodwill arising on acquisition  1.8 0.2
   13.2 0.6

Outflow of cash on minor business acquisitions
Cash outflow  13.2 0.6

The businesses acquired during the year were as follows:(1)

     Date of 
Name of business     acquisition

MetMore Pty Ltd     1-Sep-05
Inverell Steel Supplies Pty Ltd     1-Nov-05
Arthur Pipe & Steel Australia Pty Ltd     1-May-05
NZ Fasteners Group     3-Apr-06

(1) The carrying amounts are consistent with the carrying amounts of each of the classes of assets immediately before the combination.
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NOTE 24. COmmItmeNtS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Capital commitments
Commitments contracted for at reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
 Within one year  42.5 228.2 - -
 After one year but not more than five years  - 4.9 - -
Total capital commitments  42.5 233.1 - -

Operating lease commitments
The OneSteel Group has entered into various non–cancellable operating leases on property, plant and equipment.  
The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal the terms of the leases  
are renegotiated. 

The Group also leases various plant and machinery under cancellable operating leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non–cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:
 Within one year  32.0 31.5 - -
 After one year but not more than five years  68.5 73.7 - -
 Longer than five years  26.3 32.1 - -
Total operating lease commitmens  126.8 137.3 - -

Finance lease commitments
The Group has finance leases and hire purchase contracts for various items of plant and machinery.  
These leases have terms of 2 to 5 years. 

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are as follows:
 Within one year  38.0 31.1
 After one year but not more than five years  68.8 108.6 - -
 Minimum lease payments   106.8 139.7 - -
 Less: Future finance charges  (17.3) (29.2) - -
Total lease liability  89.5 110.5 - -

 Lease liability - current  29.7 21.0 - -
 Lease liability - Non–current  59.8 89.5 - -
Total lease liability  89.5 110.5 - -

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is 9.6% (2005: 9.6%)
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NOTE 25. CONtINGeNCIeS

(a) Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities at balance date not otherwise provided for in the financial statements are categorised as follows:
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Guarantees and indemnities
Bank guarantees covering:
 Workers’ compensation self–insurance licences  35.8 38.4 35.8 38.4
 Performance of contracts  18.8 21.6 - 2.8

As explained in Note 26, OneSteel has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee in accordance with a class order issued by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission. OneSteel 
Limited, and all the controlled entities which are a party to the deed, have guaranteed the repayment of all current and future creditors in the event any of these companies are wound up. 

Third party claims
OneSteel has a contract dispute with united Group Infrastructure Pty Limited (“united”) over payment for the work undertaken in the reline of the Whyalla blast furnace. This dispute has 
not been resolved and OneSteel is vigorously defending legal action commenced by united for payment of its claims. The outcome of the litigation is not expected to have a material impact 
on OneSteel’s financial statements.

The OneSteel Group has been involved from time to time in various claims and lawsuits incidental to the ordinary course of business, including claims for damages and commercial disputes 
relating to its products and services. Based on legal advice obtained other than amounts already provided for in the accounts, the directors do not expect any material liability to eventuate. 

(b) Contingent assets
Insurance claims for property damage and business interruption losses arising from disruptions to blast furnace operations at Whyalla in 2005 have been provided to the Company’s 
insurers. The insurers have agreed to indemnify OneSteel for losses covered under the relevant insurance policies and have made a progress payment of $5m. The insurers are continuing 
to assess OneSteel’s losses and additional payments are likely. however, further proceeds from these claims will not been booked in the financial statements until the likely proceeds can be 
reliably estimated. 
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NOTE 26. CONtROLLeD eNtItIeS
The consolidated financial statements at 30 June include the following controlled entities:
   Place of  % of shares held
Entity  Note incorporation 2006 2005

OneSteel Limited  (a) Australia
Aquila Steel Company Pty Ltd  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Australian Wire Industries Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
AWI holdings Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
J Murray–Moore (holdings) Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Metpol Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Midalia Steel Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel Building Supplies Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel Finance Pty Limited   Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel Insurance Pte Limited   Singapore 100.0 100.0
OneSteel Investments Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel Manufacturing Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel MBS Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel NSW Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel NZ Limited   New Zealand 100.0 100.0
OneSteel queensland Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel Reinforcing Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Onesteel Trading Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
OneSteel Wire Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Pipeline Supplies of Australia Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Reosteel Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Tubemakers of Australia Pty Ltd  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Tubemakers Somerton Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100.0 100.0
Tubemakers of New Zealand Limited   New Zealand 100.0 100.0
Armco Fasteners Limited   New Zealand 50.3 -
Steel & Tube holdings Limited   New Zealand 50.3 50.3
Steel & Tube New Zealand Limited   New Zealand 50.3 50.3
Steel & Tube Reinforcing Limited   New Zealand - 50.3
Steel & Tube Roofing Products Limited   New Zealand - 50.3
David Crozier Limited   New Zealand 50.3 50.3
EMCO Group Limited   New Zealand 50.3 50.3
Fastening Supplies Limited   New Zealand - 50.3
hurricane Wire Products Limited   New Zealand - 50.3
NZMC Limited   New Zealand 50.3 50.3
Stewart Steel Limited   New Zealand - 50.3
Stube Industries Limited   New Zealand 50.3 50.3

(a) OneSteel Limited is a public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The registered office is located at Level 40, 259 George St, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia. 

(b)  These companies have entered into a deed of cross guarantee dated 26 March 1993 with OneSteel Limited, as amended by assumption deeds dated 22 May 2001 and 21 June 2004, which provides that all parties to the deed will guarantee to each creditor, payment 
in full of any debt of each company participating in the deed on winding up of that company. As a result of Class Order 98/1418 issued by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission, these companies are relieved from the requirement to prepare financial 
statements. 

 The financial years of all controlled entities are the same as that of the parent entity, OneSteel Limited.
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NOTE 26. CONtROLLeD eNtItIeS (CONtINUeD)
DeeD OF CROSS GUARANtee
Financial information for the class order closed group
  CLOSED GROuP

    2006 2005 
    $m $m

Consolidated Income Statement
Profit before income tax    205.0 244.2
Income tax expense    (26.3) (56.9)
Profit for the year    178.7 187.3

Summary of movements in consolidated retained profits
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year    166.5 51.9
Profit for the year    178.7 187.3
Dividends provided for or paid    (82.0) (72.7)
Retained profits at the end of the year    263.2 166.5

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents    100.8 146.3
Receivables    1,246.9 1,264.7
Inventories    694.3 767.0
Other assets    9.1 5.2
total current assets    2,051.1 2,183.2

Non–current assets
Investments    33.2 33.2
Property, plant and equipment    1,304.5 1,154.4
Mine development expenditure    60.2 44.9
Intangibles    207.4 212.5
Deferred tax assets    69.1 59.7
Other assets    7.4 8.9
total Non–current assets    1,681.8 1,513.6
tOtAL ASSetS    3,732.9 3,696.8

Current liabilities
Payables    515.3 580.1
Interest–bearing liabilities    1,394.5 1,374.4
Tax liabilities    25.6 16.3
Other provisions    155.6 163.1
total current liabilities    2,091.0 2,133.9

Non–current liabilities
Interest–bearing liabilities    59.8 89.5
Deferred tax liabilities    141.3 151.1
Other provisions    48.3 46.5
total Non–current liabilities    249.4 287.1
tOtAL LIABILItIeS    2,340.4 2,421.0
Net ASSetS    1,392.5 1,275.8

equity
Contributed equity    1,126.2 1,107.9
Retained earnings    263.2 166.5
Reserves    3.1 1.4
tOtAL eQUItY    1,392.5 1,275.8
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NOTE 27. ReLAteD PARtY DISCLOSUReS

(a) transactions with related parties in the wholly–owned group
Throughout the year, the parent entity, OneSteel Limited, entered into the following transactions with members of the wholly–owned group:
- loan was advanced
- interest was received
- management fees were received and paid
- dividends were received
- tax related transactions occurred within the tax consolidated group
These transactions were undertaken on commercial terms and conditions.
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
Transaction type Class of related party $m $m $m $m

Loans to/from controlled entities
Loan advances(1) Controlled entities - - 153.7 210.8
Interest received(1) Controlled entities - - 9.4 4.5
Loan Receivable - tax related balances(2) Controlled entities - - 24.8 16.6

(1) An Interest–bearing loan with an average interest rate of 5.04% (2005 4.25%).
(2) Tax related balances with wholly–owned Australian controlled entities under a tax fundng agreement arising from entry into tax consolidation.

Other transactions
Management fees received Controlled entities - - 3.2 3.5
Management fees paid Controlled entities - - (3.2) (3.5)
Dividends received Controlled entities - - - 146.0

(b) transactions with jointly controlled entity
Bekaert Australia Steel Cord Pty Ltd is 50% owned by Onesteel Limited. Throughout the year, 
members of the wholly–owned group were engaged for the supply of wire products, with 
the transactions undertaken on commercial terms and conditions. In addition, an Interest–
bearing loan was advanced to the jointly controlled entity. The value of sales revenue, trade 
receivables and loan balance contained within the financial statements are as follows:

Sale of goods Jointly controlled entity 0.9 1.2 - -
Trade receivables Jointly controlled entity - - - -
Loan advances(3) Jointly controlled entity 0.3 0.3 - -

(3) An interest bearing loan at an average interest rate throughout the year of 6.45% (2005: 6.45%).

(c) Ultimate Controlling entity
The ultimate controlling entity of the OneSteel Group is OneSteel Limited.
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NOTE 28. emPLOYee BeNeFItS

  CONSOLIDATED

    2006 2005

The number of employees as at 30 June:    7,513 7,395

    $m $m

The aggregate employee benefit liability is comprised of:
Provisions (current)    152.6 149.2
Provisions (Non–current)    35.7 34.2
Total employee benefits    188.3 183.4

(a) Self–insurance workers’ compensation provision
  CONSOLIDATED

    2006 2005 
    $m $m

Obligations under self–insurers workers’ compensation licences included in provision for employee benefits

New South Wales    14.8 17.2
queensland    0.7 1.5
victoria    3.0 2.5
South Australia    2.5 3.0
Western Australia    0.6 0.7
Total self–insurance workers’ compensation provision    21.6 24.9

OneSteel provides the following share and option plans for employees:

(b) employee Share Plans
OneSteel has a two share plans under which eligible employees may acquire ordinary shares in the company. The most recent offer under the employee share plan was made in May 2006 
to eligible employees as at 1 April 2006. All Australian resident permanent employees (excluding OneSteel Directors) are eligible to participate in either the Tax Exempt or Tax Deferred 
Share Plans. Both the Tax Exempt and Tax Deferred Plans enable participating employees to make salary sacrifice contributions to purchase shares on–market on a monthly basis. under 
both plans, the company also grants to contributing participants a parcel of fully paid ordinary shares to the value of $125 for employees participating in the Tax Exempt Plan and $250 for 
employees participating in the Tax Deferred Plan for no cash consideration. The shares must be held in the Plan for a minimum of three years whilst the participant remains an employee of 
OneSteel for the Tax Exempt Plan. For the Tax Deferred Plan, employee contribution shares must be held in the Plan for a minimum of 12 months, and company contribution shares must 
be held in the plan for 24 months before they can be withdrawn. 

During the years ended 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006, the matching shares granted by the company have been purchased on–market or allocated from surplus shares forfeited under 
either the employee share plan or the executive share plan. The matching shares are allocated each month using the same allocation employee contributed shares, which are purchased on 
the 15th of each month, and the number of shares allocated to the employees is the offer amount divided by the weighted average price at which the company’s shares are traded on the 
Australian Stock Exchange on the date of the puchase. 

Offers under the scheme are at the discretion of the Company. All OneSteel shares acquired under the tax exempt and tax deferred plans rank equally with all other OneSteel shares and 
carry dividend and voting rights. 

All plan management and administration costs relating to the plans are met by the company.
    2006 2005

Total number purchased by employees during the year (000s)    1,720 1,861
Weighted average fair value of shares granted during the period ($)    3.39 2.70
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NOTE 28. emPLOYee BeNeFItS (CONtINUeD)

(c) executive Share Plan (Long–term Incentive Plan)
The executive share plan for senior management provides for the grant of rights to shares. During the year grants of share rights were made to eligible executives. The shares granted are 
held in trust until vested to the participant. 

vesting is subject to the company achieving specific performance hurdles and a three–year qualifying period. If the shares do not vest immediately at the end of the three–year qualifying 
period, provisions exist that enable re–testing of the performance hurdles. In addition, all or some of these shares may vest to an individual on termination when special circumstances 
apply. At the discretion of the Board these include redundancy, death and permanent disability. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 

The shares held in trust carry voting rights and the holder is entitled to any dividends paid during the vesting period. 

The performance hurdles relate to two comparative groups, namely the Australian Consumer Price Index plus 5% (Base Index) and the S&P/ASx 200 Index excluding banks, media and 
telecommunications (Comparator Index) that are measured against OneSteel’s performance in terms of total shareholder return. For each instalment, 50% of the shares will vest subject to 
OneSteel’s TSR performance to the Base Index and the remaining 50% of shares will vest subject to OneSteel’s performance to the Comparator Index. 

The expense recognised in the Income Statement in relation to share–based payments is disclosed in Note 3. 

Shares held in trust in the LTIP are as follows:
 2006 2005

   Weighted  Weighted  
   average  average 
  Number fair value Number fair value 
  ‘000s $ ‘000s $

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  3,000 - 2,396 -
Share rights vested during the year  (689) - (1,602) -
Share rights purchased during the year  732 2.83 2,206 2.07
Outstanding at the end of the year  3,043  3,000

The fair value of the equity settled share rights granted under the LTIP is estimated as at the date of grant using a Monte–Carlo Simulation analysis taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the share rights were granted. 

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years ended 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006. 
    2006 2005

Dividend yield    4.24% - 4.36% 5%
Expected volatility    30% 30%
Risk free interest rate    5.14% - 5.70% 5.31%
Expected life    3 years 3 years
Exercise price    - -
Weighted average share price at grant date    $3.37 - $4.01 $2.28 - $2.91

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

(d) executive Option Plan
Prior to the year ended 30 June 2002, rights to options were issued to executives as part of the Executive Option Plan. vesting is subject to the company achieving specific performance 
hurdles and a three year qualifying period. The exercise price of each option is based on the weighted average price of OneSteel Limited shares traded on the Australian Stock Exchange for 
the five days up to and including the date they are granted. 

The performance hurdles relate to two comparative groups, namely the Australian Consumer Price Index plus 5% (Base Index) and the S&P/ASx 200 Index excluding banks, media and 
telecommunications (Comparator Index) that are measured against OneSteel’s performance in terms of total shareholder return. For each instalment, 50% of the shares will vest subject to 
OneSteel’s TSR performance to the Base Index and the remaining 50% of shares will vest subject to OneSteel’s performance to the Comparator Index.

All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the employee’s employment. No options expired during the year. The OneSteel Remuneration Committee has a 
discretion to allow early access to OneSteel shares or options if the participant dies, retires or his or her employment is terminated as a consequence of redundancy. 

The contractual life of each option granted is 9 years. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 

The options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issues of the Company. 

These options were all fully vested during the year ended 30 June 2005. No further options have been issued since those referred to above. No expense in relation to options have been 
recognised in the current year or prior periods as OneSteel has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 “First time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards” to not apply AASB 2 “Share–based Payment” to equity based instruments granted on or before 7 November 2002 or granted after 7 November 2002 and vesting 
before 1 January 2005. 
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NOTE 28. emPLOYee BeNeFItS (CONtINUeD)
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise price of and movements in the executive option plan:

   2006   2005

Number

Weighted  
average  

exercise price

Weighted average 
share price at  

date of exercise Number

Weighted  
average  

exercise price

Weighted average 
share price at date  

of exercise
 ‘000s $ $ ‘000S $ $

Outstanding at the beginning of the year(1) 892 1.007 - 4,314 0.944 -
Exercised during the period (396) 1.019 3.30 (3,410) 0.927 2.85
Options forfeited during the period - - - (12) 1.043 -
Outstanding at the end of the year(1),(2) 496 0.997 - 892 1.007 -
Exercisable at the end of the year 496 0.997 - 892 1.007 -

(1) All options within this balance have not been recognised in accordance with AASB 2 as the options were granted on or before 7 November 2002. These options have not been subsequently modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with AASB 2. 

(2) The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding and exercisable as at 30 June 2006 is between 4 and 5 years, with exercise prices of $0.9258 and $1.0434 (2005: $0.9258 and $1.0434).

Steel & tube Holdings Limited
In 2006, 46,570 shares were purchased under the employee share purchase scheme and 48,000 shares under the executive share plan. Both schemes have a vesting period of a minimum 
of 3 years from grant date. The employee share scheme provides financial assistance, to a maximum of $2,340 in any three–year period, to eligible employees to purchase Company 
shares. Rights to shares in the executive share scheme vest upon achieving Board approved targets based on total shareholder returns. 

NOTE 29. DIReCtOR AND eXeCUtIVe DISCLOSUReS

(a) Details of Key management Personnel

Directors
P J Smedley Chairman (Independent, non-executive)
G J Plummer Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
R B Davis Director (Independent, non–executive)
E J Doyle Director (Independent, non–executive)
C R Galbraith Director (Independent, non–executive)
P G Nankervis Director (Independent, non–executive)
D A Pritchard Director (Independent, non–executive)
N J Roach Director (Independent, non–executive)

Executives
N Calavrias Chief Executive Officer, Steel & Tube holdings  Limited
A J Reeves Chief Financial Officer
L J Selleck Executive General Manager, Project Magnet
C R Keast Executive General Manager, Market Mills 
M R Parry Executive General Manager, Whyalla Steelworks
A h Combe Executive General Manager, Distribution - from 30 January 2006
W J Gately Corporate General Manager, human Resources & Safety
A Roberts Executive General Manager, Marketing - from 18 July 2005
G J Plummer Executive General Manager, Market Mills - until 20 December 2004
R W Freeman Executive General Manager, Distribution - until 5 August 2005

Compensation of Key management Personnel
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Short–term benefits   7,728,557   6,865,636   7,087,486   6,139,066 
Post–employment benefits   460,220   663,348   423,390   628,399 
Other long–term benefits   195,858   96,569   -     -   
Termination benefits   -     1,390,768   -     1,390,768  
Share–based payments   1,519,570   1,433,669   1,519,570   1,433,669 
    9,904,205   10,449,990   9,030,446   9,591,902
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NOTE 29. DIReCtOR AND eXeCUtIVe DISCLOSUReS (CONtINUeD)

Compensation of key management personnel
The company has applied the exemption under Corporations Amendments Regulation 2006 which exempts listed companies from providing detailed remuneration disclosures in relation 
to their key management personnel in their annual financial reports by Accounting Standard AASB 124 “Related Party Disclosures”. These remuneration disclosures are provided in the 
Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report designated as audited. 

Loans to key management personnel
There were no loans made or outstanding to key management personnel. 

Other transactions and balances with key management personnel
Key management personnel of OneSteel Limited, its related parties or its related entities, conduct transactions with entities within the OneSteel Group that occur within a normal 
employee, customer or supplier relationship on terms and conditions no more favourable than those with which it is reasonable to expect the entity would have adopted if dealing with 
the key management personnel or their related entity at an arm’s length in similar circumstances. These transactions include the following and have been quantified below where the 
transactions are considered to be of interest to users of these financial statements. 

During the period 1 July 2005 to 31 January 2006, Colin Galbraith was an equity partner in the law firm Allens Arthur Robinson. From 1 February 2006 to 30 June 2006, Mr Galbraith 
was engaged by the law firm as a special advisor which is a salaried position. In the financial year to 30 June 2006, the firm billed OneSteel a total of $1,200,892 of which $578,275 
remained unpaid at 30 June 2006. These fees were billed in respect of legal work performed by the firms and were charged on normal arms’ length commercial terms. Mr Galbraith was 
not personally involved in the provision of any of these services. 

(a) Option holdings of key management personnel

2006    

held at  
1 July  
2005

Granted as 
remuneration

Options  
exercised

Net  
change  

other 

held at  
30 June  

2006

vested and 
exercisable at  

30 June 2006

Directors
G J Plummer    90,000 - - - 90,000 90,000

executives
L J Selleck    75,000 - (75,000) - - -
M R Parry    8,045 - (8,000) - 45 45
C R Keast    18,500 - (18,500) - - -
W J Gately    30,000 - (30,000) - - -
R W Freeman(1)    90,000 - (90,000) - - -
Total     311,545  -  (221,500) -  90,045   90,045 

(1) Mr Freeman’s options were exercised subsequent to leaving the company on 5 August 2005.

2005    

held at  
1 July  
2004

Granted as 
remuneration

Options  
exercised

Net  
change  

other 

held at  
30 June  

2005

vested and 
exercisable at  

30 June 2005

Directors
R L Every    2,462,735 - (2,462,735) - - -
G J Plummer    230,420 - (140,420) - 90,000 90,000

executives
A J Reeves    233,300 - (233,300) - - -
L J Selleck    75,000 - - - 75,000 75,000
W J Gately    30,000 - - - 30,000 30,000
R W Freeman    331,298 - (241,298) - 90,000 90,000
Total    3,362,753 - (3,077,753) - 285,000 285,000
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NOTE 29. DIReCtOR AND eXeCUtIVe DISCLOSUReS (CONtINUeD)

(b) Share rights holdings of key management personnel

2006

held at  
1 July  
2005

Granted as 
remuneration vested

Net  
change  

other 

held at  
30 June  

2006

vesting  
3 September  

2007

vesting  
6 May  
2008

vesting  
8 September  

2008

vesting  
3 February  

2009

Directors
G J Plummer 1,212,124 - (68,998) - 1,143,126 85,086 1,058,040 - - 

executives
A J Reeves 154,084 50,896 (68,998) - 135,982 85,086 - 50,896 - 
L J Selleck 141,539 35,926 (56,453) - 121,012 85,086 - 35,926 - 
M R Parry 37,624 47,901 (13,800) - 71,725 23,824 - 47,901 - 
C R Keast 37,624 47,901 (13,800) - 71,725 23,824 - 47,901 - 
A Roberts 15,315 44,907 - - 60,222 15,315 - 44,907 - 
A h Combe - 33,207 - - 33,207 - - - 33,207 
W J Gately 89,226 29,938 (43,280) - 75,884 45,946 - 29,938 - 
R W Freeman  154,084   -     -     (154,084)  -     -     -     -     -   
Total 1,841,620 290,676 (265,329) (154,084) 1,712,883 364,167 1,058,040 257,469 33,207 

2005

held at  
1 July  
2004

Granted as 
remuneration vested

Net  
change  

other 

held at  
30 June  

2005

vesting  
13 December  

2005

vesting  
3 September  

2007

vesting  
6 May  
2008  

Directors
R L Every 782,319 - (782,319) - - - - -
G J Plummer 143,998 1,143,126 (75,000) - 1,212,124 68,998 85,086 1,058,040

executives
A J Reeves 243,973 85,086 (174,975) - 154,084 68,998 85,086 -
L J Selleck 116,453 85,086 (60,000) - 141,539 56,453 85,086 -
W J Gately 68,280 45,946 (25,000) - 89,226 43,280 45,946 -
R W Freeman 143,998 85,086 (75,000) - 154,084 68,998 85,086 -
Total 1,499,021 1,444,330 (1,192,294) - 1,751,057 306,727 386,290 1,058,040
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NOTE 29. DIReCtOR AND eXeCUtIVe DISCLOSUReS (CONtINUeD)

(c) Share holdings of key management personnel

2006    

held at  
1 July  
2005

Granted as 
remuneration

On exercise  
of options

On vesting  
of shares

Net  
change other

held at  
30 June  

2006

Directors
P J Smedley    160,643 44,004 - - - 204,647
G J Plummer    270,344 - - 68,998 - 339,342
R B Davis    3,678 11,767 - - - 15,445
E J Doyle    103,793 11,766 - - - 115,559
C R Galbraith    76,091 11,767 - - - 87,858
P G Nankervis    7,598 14,708 - - - 22,306
D A Pritchard    66,651 11,766 - - - 78,417
N J Roach    191,866 11,766 - - - 203,632

executives
N Calavrias    25,285 - - - 974 26,259
A J Reeves    206,336 - - 68,998 2,507 277,841
L J Selleck    235,692 - 75,000 56,453 (75,000) 292,145
M R Parry    37,732 - 8,000 13,800 (15,662) 43,870
C R Keast    26,639 - 18,500 13,800 (44,672) 14,267
A Roberts    7,639 - - - 880 8,519
A h Combe    - - - - - -
W J Gately    33,651 - 30,000 43,280 (29,390) 77,541
    1,453,638 117,544 131,500 265,329 (160,363) 1,807,648

2005    

held at  
1 July  
2005

Granted as 
remuneration

On exercise  
of options

On vesting  
of shares

Net  
change other

held at  
30 June  

2005

Directors
P J Smedley    118,719 41,924 - - - 160,643
G J Plummer    302,240 - 140,420 75,000 (247,316) 270,344
R B Davis    - 3,678 - - - 3,678
E J Doyle    92,524 11,269 - - - 103,793
C R Galbraith    64,822 11,269 - - - 76,091
P G Nankervis    - 4,598 - - 3,000 7,598
D A Pritchard    55,382 11,269 - - - 66,651
N J Roach    180,597 11,269 - - - 191,866

executives
N Calavrias    24,145 - - - 1,140 25,285
A J Reeves    28,449 - 233,300 174,975 (230,388) 206,336
L J Selleck    174,021 - - 60,000 1,671 235,692
W J Gately    7,807 - - 25,000 844 33,651
R W Freeman    180,974 - 241,298 75,000 (241,298) 255,974
Total    1,229,680 95,276 615,018 409,975 (712,347) 1,637,602
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NOTE 29. DIReCtOR AND eXeCUtIVe DISCLOSUReS (CONtINUeD)

The shareholdings of former key management personnel, at the date they retired or resigned was as follows:

2006    

held at  
1 July  
2005

Granted as 
remuneration

On exercise  
of options

On vesting  
of shares

Net  
change other

held at  
resignation 

date

executives
R W Freeman     255,974   -     -     -     -     255,974 
Total     255,974   -     -     -     -     255,974

2005    

held at  
1 July  
2005

Granted as 
remuneration

On exercise  
of options

On vesting  
of shares

Net  
change other

held at  
retirement  

date

Directors
R L Every    1,954,845 - 2,462,735 782,319 (3,000,000) 2,199,899
D E Meiklejohn    15,382 8,509 - - - 23,891
Total    1,970,227 8,509 2,462,735 782,319 (3,000,000) 2,223,790

NOTE 30. AUDItORS’ RemUNeRAtION
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  2006 2005 2006 2005 
  $m $m $m $m

Amounts paid or payable to the auditor of OneSteel Limited, Ernst & young for:
 An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the consolidated group  1,042,000 813,000 120,000 120,000
 Other services in relation to the entity and any other entity in the consolidated group
  Tax compliance  788,611 633,213 - -
  Assurance related  17,500 131,835 - -
    1,848,111 1,578,048 120,000 120,000

Amounts paid or payable to other auditors for:
 An audit or review of the financial report of certain controlled entities in the consolidated group  169,643 157,270 - -
 Other services  50,893 22,993 - -
   220,536 180,263 - -

NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INStRUmeNtS

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and overdrafts, a uS private placement, finance leases, cash and short–term deposits. 
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and 
payables, which arise directly from its operations. The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally interest rate swaps, cross–currency interest rate swaps and 
forward exchange contracts. The purpose is to manage specifically identified interest rate, commodity and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and sources of finance. It 
is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial 
instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, commodity risk and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are 
summarised below. 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are 
recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1. 

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long–term debt borrowings. The objective of Group policy is to neutralise exposures 
within levels of tolerance acceptable to the Board, minimising interest expense whilst ensuring that an appropriate level of flexibility exists to accommodate potential changes in funding 
requirements. 
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NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INStRUmeNtS (CONtINUeD)

Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s policy is 
to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and floating interest rate debt. The Group’s policy is to keep 30% to 70% of the lesser of the expected usage of borrowings or the committed 
exposure to a minimum of five years at fixed rates of interest. This policy has been complied with at the year end. 

To manage this mix in a cost–efficient manner, the Group enters into interest rate swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and 
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed–upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. 

Foreign currency risk
The Group’s primary sources of foreign currency risk are sales of product and purchases of inventory by business units in a currency other than the Australian dollar; purchases of 
commodity inputs priced in uSD or with an AuD price determined by a uSD based international price; capital expenditure denominated in foreign currency, or denominated in AuD with rise 
and fall clauses related to exchange rate movements. 

The Group requires all business units to use forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on any individual transactions in excess of uSD$100,000. Committed 
exposures will be 100% covered when the transaction is contracted, whilst projected exposures (contract underpinning) will be 50% covered where there are ongoing sales or purchases and 
the transaction is relatively certain. 

The forward currency contracts must be in the same currency as the underlying exposure. 

OneSteel also has foreign currency exposure arising from its uS private placement. In April 2003, OneSteel raised $128m of uSD denominated, fixed rate debt via a private placement of senior 
notes in two tranches, a seven–year tranche (uSD$68m) and a twelve–year tranche (uSD$60m). This has been hedged using a series of cross–currency interest rate swaps (refer to Note 7). 

The Group also has exposure to foreign exchange translation risk in relation to NZD denominated assets and liabilities of its 50.3% share of Steel and Tube holdings. The Group does not seek 
to hedge this exposure, but instead monitors the position so as to ensure that the movement in the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve does not impact equity so adversely as to place any 
financial covenants at risk. 

Commodity price risk
The primary sources of commodity risk for the Group are coal and zinc purchases in uSD; aluminium purchases which are made in AuD but with prices set in uSD; energy purchases made 
in AuD that can be subject to long–term contracts and scrap purchases made outside the OneSteel Group. Commodity price risk is managed by either putting in place fixed price contracts, 
fixed price swaps or options. 

Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. 
In addition, receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debt is not significant. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk 
within the Group. 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available for sale financial assets and certain derivative 
instruments, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. 

The Group, while exposed to credit related losses in the event of non–performance by counterparties to financial instruments, does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their 
obligations given their high credit ratings. Where appropriate, collateral is obtained in the form of rights to securities and master netting agreements. 

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, uS private placement and finance leases. In 
addition to committed facilities, OneSteel has 11am money market lines and an overdraft facility that assists with intra–month cash management. Debt maturities will be spread out to limit 
risk on debt rollover.

(b) Fair values
Set out here is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments recognised in the financial statements. 

The fair values of derivatives and borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The fair values of loan notes and other 
financial assets have been calculated using market interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 

The carrying values of cash, receivables and payables approximate fair value and as such have not been disclosed.
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NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INStRUmeNtS (CONtINUeD)
 CONSOLIDATED 

   Carrying amount  Fair value
  2006 2005(1) 2006 2005(1)

  $m $m $m $m

Financial assets
Forward currency contracts  3.2 4.8 3.2 4.9
Interest rate swaps  4.2 - 4.2 -
Other financial assets  7.4 8.8 7.4 8.8

Financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps  - 0.1 - 1.7
Interest–bearing loans and borrowings
 Obligations under finance leases  89.5 110.5 89.5 110.5
 Floating rate borrowings  411.6 381.5 411.6 381.5
 uS Private Placement  158.2 169.6 158.2 179.2
Cross–currency interest rate swaps  53.6 38.7 53.6 31.0

(c) Interest rate risk
The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity of the financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk for the OneSteel Group. There is no interest rate risk borne by 
OneSteel Limited and as such no disclosures have been made for the parent entity. 

2006  

1 year  
or less 

$m

1 - 2  
years 

$m

2 - 3 
 years 

$m

3 - 4 
 years 

$m

4 - 5  
years 

$m

More than 
 5 years 

$m
Total 

$m

Weighted  
average effective  

interest rate 
%

Floating interest rate

Financial assets
Cash 19.6 - - - - - 19.6 4.9 
Trade receivables 26.6 - - - - - 26.6 11.2 
Other financial assets 0.3 - - - - - 0.3 6.8 

Financial liabilities
Bank loans 30.4 369.0 4.1 8.1 - - 411.6 6.2 
Interest rate swaps(2) (50.0) (50.0) (65.0) (30.0) (50.0) - (245.0) 5.4 
Cross–currency interest rate swaps - - - 26.9 - 26.7 53.6 7.1 

Fixed interest rate

Financial liabilities
Finance lease liabilities 29.7 19.4 21.4 19.0 - - 89.5 9.6
uS Private Placement - - - 84.5 - 72.8 157.3 5.2
Interest rate swaps(2) 50.0 50.0 65.0 30.0 50.0 - 245.0 5.4



60

n
o

t
es

 to
 t

h
e F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

 S
t

A
t

e
m

e
N

t
S

NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INStRUmeNtS (CONtINUeD)

Fixed interest maturing in

  Floating interest rate 1 year or less Over 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total
Weighted average  
interest rate %pa

2005(1) $m $m $m $m $m Floating Fixed

Financial assets
Cash  55.0 - - - 55.0 5.2 -
Trade receivables  32.0 - - - 32.0 10.9 -
Other financial assets  0.3 - - - 0.3 6.5 -
  87.3 - - - 87.3 - -

Financial liabilities
Finance lease liabilities  - 21.0 89.5 - 110.5 - 9.6
Bank loans  381.5 - - - 381.5 6.3 -
uS Private Placement  - - 90.1 79.5 169.6 - 5.2
Cross–currency interest rate swaps(2)  169.6 - (90.1) (79.5) - 7.3 5.2
Interest rate swaps(2)  (340.0) 225.0 115.0 - - 5.7 5.9
  211.1 246.0 204.5 - 661.6  

Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is repriced at intervals of less than one year. Interest on financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until maturity of the 
instrument. The other financial instruments of the Group that are not included in the above tables are non–interest bearing and therefore not subject to interest rate risk.

(1)  The 2005 disclosures for financial instruments are in accordance with the previous AGAAP standard AASB 1033 “Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure”, as OneSteel has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 
1 July 2005.

(2) Notional principal amounts

NOTE 32. eVeNtS AFteR BALANCe SHeet DAte
On 26 June 2006, OneSteel Limited (“OneSteel”) and Smorgon Steel Group Limited (“Smorgon Steel”) announced that they have reached an agreement under which OneSteel will acquire 
all of the shares in Smorgon Steel (the “proposed transaction”).

It is intended that the proposed transaction be undertaken via a scheme of arrangement to be voted on by Smorgon Steel shareholders. The timing of this transaction is uncertain and is 
subject to approval by the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (“ACCC”) and other corporate activity. 

Smorgon Steel shareholders will receive a combination of OneSteel ordinary shares and cash with an implied value of $1.76 per Smorgon Steel share. 

Smorgon Steel shareholders will receive 9 shares for in OneSteel for every 22 shares they hold in Smorgon Steel. In addition, Smorgon Steel shareholders will receive between 6.2 and 
22.6 cents per share. 

There have been no other circumstances arising since 30 June 2006 that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:
- the operations;
- the results of those operations; or
- the state of affairs of the entity or consolidated entity in future financial years.

NOTE 33. tRANSItION tO AUStRALIAN eQUIVALeNtS OF INteRNAtIONAL FINANCIAL RePORtING StANDARDS
For all periods up to and including the year ended 30 June 2005, the Group prepared its financial statements in accordance with Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(AGAAP). These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 are the first the Group is requried to prepare in accordance with Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 

Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with AIFRS applicable for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and the significant accounting policies 
meeting those requirements are described in Note 1. In preparing these financial statements, the Group has started from an opening balance sheet as at 1 July 2004, the Group’s date of 
transition to AIFRS, and made those changes in accounting policies and other restatements required by AASB 1 “First Time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards”. 

This note explains the principal adjustments made by the Group in restating its AGAAP balance sheet as at 1 July 2004 and its previously published AGAAP financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2005.
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NOTE 33. tRANSItION tO AUStRALIAN eQUIVALeNtS OF INteRNAtIONAL FINANCIAL RePORtING StANDARDS (CONtINUeD)

(a) Reconciliation of total equity as presented under previous AGAAP to that under AIFRS
 CONSOLIDATED  PARENT

  30 Jun 05 1 Jul 04 30 Jun 05 1 Jul 04 
 Note $m $m $m $m

Contributed equity under previous AGAAP  1,115.0 1,096.3 1,115.0 1,096.3
Adjustments to contributed equity
Consolidation of Employee Share Plan Trusts (vii) (7.1) (2.3) (7.1) (2.3)

Contributed equity under AIFRS  1,107.9 1,094.0 1,107.9 1,094.0

Retained earnings under previous AGAAP  277.5 217.6 187.6 186.4
Adjustments to retained earnings, net of tax
Recognition of additional mine rehabilitation provision (i) (2.2) (1.5) - - 
Recognition of defined benefits superannuation deficit (ii) (7.7) (8.1) - - 
Recognition of impairment losses (including goodwill) (iii) (104.1) (104.1) - (75.3)
Adjustment to depreciation due to impairment at 1 July 2004 (iii) 4.1 - - - 
Reversal of impairment loss (iii) 45.6 - - - 
Reversal of goodwill amortisation (iv) 20.1 - - - 
Recognition of lease make good and other provisions (v) (0.4) (0.4) - - 
Revision to share–based payments expense (vi) 0.7 1.1 0.1 - 
Recognition of deferred tax balances (viii) (19.4) (20.5) 1.1 1.1

Total AIFRS adjustments to retained earnings  (63.3) (133.5) 1.2 (74.2)

Retained earnings under AIFRS  214.2 84.1 188.8 112.2

Reserves under previous AGAAP  3.0 2.8 - - 
Adjustments to other reserves, net of tax
Recognition of share–based payments (vi) 1.4 0.8 1.0 0.7

Reserves under AIFRS  4.4 3.6 1.0 0.7

minority interests under previous AGAAP  61.2 56.7 - - 
Recognition of share of AIFRS adjustments  0.6 (0.4) - - 

minority interests under AIFRS  61.8 56.3 - -

tOtAL eQUItY AS RePORteD UNDeR AGAAP  1,456.7 1,373.4 1,302.6 1,282.7
Impact of AIFRS adjustments  (68.4) (135.4) (4.9) (75.8)

tOtAL eQUItY AS RePORteD UNDeR AIFRS  1,388.3 1,238.0 1,297.7 1,206.9
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NOTE 33. tRANSItION tO AUStRALIAN eQUIVALeNtS OF INteRNAtIONAL FINANCIAL RePORtING StANDARDS (CONtINUeD)

(b) Reconciliation of profit after tax under previous AGAAP to that under AIFRS
   CONSOLIDATED   PARENT

   2005  2005 
 Note  $m  $m

Profit after tax under previous AGAAP   132.5  73.9
Adjustments to profit, net of tax
Revised mine rehabilitation expense (i)  (0.7)  -
Defined benefits superannuation fund benefit (ii)  0.4  -
Revised depreciation on impaired assets (iii)  4.1  -
Asset impairment (iii)  45.6  75.3
Revised lease make good provisions (v)  (0.1)  -
Reversal of goodwill amortisation (iv)  20.1  -
Revision to share–based payments expense (vi)  (0.4)  0.1
Adjustments to income tax expense (viii)  1.3  -

Total AIFRS adjustments to profit after tax   70.3  75.4

Profit after tax under AIFRS   202.8  149.3

Notes to the reconciliations

(i) Mine site rehabilitation
  The application of AASB 116 “Property, Plant and Equipment” requires future site remediation costs to be capitalised and depreciated over the life of the asset. A corresponding liability is then recognised in accordance with AASB 137 “Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. A net present value calculation is used in the determination of the asset and liability. On transition to AIFRS, a re–assessment of the rehabilitation asset associated with the iron ore mine site resulted in an 
additional $2.1m ($1.5m net of tax) for the projected remediation cost. This provision has been reviewed at each subsequent reporting date under AIFRS.

(ii) Retirement benefit obligations
  under AGAAP, actuarial gains and losses on the defined benefit section of the superannuation plan were not recognised on the Balance Sheet. under AASB 119 “Employee Benefits”, OneSteel recognised the net deficit in its employer sponsored defined 

benefit superannuation fund on transition to AIFRS as a liability on the Balance Sheet with a corresponding entry to retained earnings. OneSteel has elected to adopt the ‘corridor approach’ to account for actuarial gains/losses in the plan. under this 
approach, cumulative actuarial gains/losses greater than 10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation or 10% of the fair value of plan assets, are amortised in the Income Statement over the average remaining service period of the employees 
in the plan.

(iii) Impairment of assets
  under AASB 136 “Impairment of Assets”, the recoverable amount of assets is determined as the higher of net selling price and value–in–use. OneSteel’s accounting policy is to determine the recoverable amount of assets on the basis of discounted cash 

flows arising from identifiable cash–generating units (CGus). The CGus (or groups of CGus) assets, including goodwill allocation, were tested for impairment on transition and at each subsequent annual reporting date.

  On transition to AIFRS, an impairment loss of $125.4m ($104.1m net of tax) was recorded as a result of the impairment testing performed. This comprised a write–down in goodwill of $54.4m, which cannot be reversed in subsequent periods, and $71.0m ($49.7m net  
of tax) in plant and equipment. The depreciation expense for the impaired assets was reduced by $5.8m ($4.1m net of tax) subsequent to the impairment write–down as at 30 June 2005. 

  As a result of the inclusion of forecasted cash flows related to Project Magnet and improved economic outlook of the Australian economy used in the impairment testing performed at 30 June 2005, the impairment loss arising on plant and equipment was subsequently 
reversed, net of the depreciation adjustment recorded. 

 A write–down of the parent’s investment in subsidiaries of $75.3m that had been booked in the year ended 30 June 2005 under AGAAP was made on transition to AIFRS.

(iv) Reversal of goodwill amortisation
 Goodwill is no longer amortised but is subject to annual impairment testing or whenever there are indications of impairment. 

(v) Leasehold improvements
  under AASB 116 “Property, Plant and Equipment”, OneSteel has recognised as part of the cost of leasehold improvements, the costs associated with lease make–good clauses upon termination of certain leased premises, where such an obligation exists to 

the lessor. These costs were not recognised under AGAAP. A corresponding liability has also been recognised in the Balance Sheet in accordance with AASB 137 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.

(vi) Share–based payments
  under AASB 2 “Share-based Payments”, the fair value of shares and/or options granted to employees as remuneration are required to be recognised as an expense over the vesting period with a corresponding adjustment to Equity. While share–based 

payments were not recognised under AGAAP, OneSteel’s policy was to purchase on market any shares granted to senior executives under the long–term incentive plan and to expense the cost of those shares in the Statement of Financial Performance. 
under AIFRS, this past expense for the shares has been reversed and only the amount applicable under AASB 2 has been recognised in the Income Statement with a corresponding entry to Equity. 

(vii) Consolidation of Employee Share plan Trusts
  under AASB 127 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and uIG 112 “Consolidation of Special Purpose Entities”, OneSteel is required to consolidate the Employee Share Plan Trusts. This has the impact of reducing contributed equity by the 

amount of the unvested shares held in Trust at the reporting date. 

(viii) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
  under AASB 112 “Income Taxes”, a Balance Sheet approach is used to calculate deferred tax assets/liabilities, which differs to the Income Statement method approach under AGAAP. This method recognises deferred tax balances where there is a 

difference between the accounting carrying value of assets/liabilities and their tax base. This has resulted in the recognition of deferred tax balances in relation to previously revalued assets. under AGAAP the tax effect of asset revaluations was not 
recognised. 
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NOTE 33. TRANSITION TO AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS OF 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)

(c) Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement
The adoption of AIFRS has not resulted in any material adjustments to the 
Cash Flow Statement. 

(d) Other impacts
AASB 139 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” and 
AASB 132 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation”.

OneSteel has adopted the exemption available under AASB 1 whereby 
comparatives are not required to be restated under AASB 132 and AASB 
139. These standards have been applied from 1 July 2005. Therefore no 
AIFRS adjustments have been made to the comparative period ending 30 
June 2005. On transition at 1 July 2005, a loss of $3.6m was recognised 
in Retained Earnings in relation to fair value hedges and the ineffective 
portion of any cash flow hedges. A loss of $1.7m was recognised in a cash 
flow hedge reserve in relation to the effective portion of cash flow hedges.  
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In the opinion of the directors of OneSteel Limited (“the Company”):

(a) the financial statements and accompanying notes are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:

 (i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

 (ii) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position 
as at 30 June 2006 and of its performance, as represented by the results of their 
operations, changes in equity and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that 
date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as 
when they become due and payable; and

(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out under the heading “Remuneration Report” 
in sections A, B, C and E of the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standards AASB 
124 “Related Party Disclosures” and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(d) at the date of this declaration there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members 
of the Closed Group identified in Note 26 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities 
to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee 
described in Note 26. 

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief 
financial offer required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 
Peter Smedley Geoff Plummer
Chairman Managing Director

Sydney
22 August 2006
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Independent audit report to members of OneSteel Limited

Scope

The financial report, remuneration disclosures and directors’ responsibility
The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes 
in equity, statement of cash flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the 
directors’ declaration for OneSteel Limited and the consolidated entity, for the year ended 30 
June 2006. The consolidated entity comprises both the company and the entities it controlled 
during that year.

The company has disclosed information as required by paragraphs Aus 25.4 to Aus 25.7.2 
of Accounting Standard 124 Related Party Disclosures (“remuneration disclosures”), under 
the heading “Remuneration Report”, in sections A, B, C and E of the Directors’ Report, as 
permitted by Corporations Regulation 2M.6.04.

The directors of the company are responsible for preparing a financial report that gives 
a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the company and the 
consolidated entity, and that complies with Accounting Standards in Australia, in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and 
error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report. 

The directors are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ 
Report.

Audit approach
We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion to 
the members of the company. Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free 
of material misstatement and the remuneration disclosures comply with Accounting Standard 
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such 
as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal 
control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit 
cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report 
presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with 
Accounting Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial reporting requirements 
in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the 
consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented by the results 
of their operations and cash flows and whether the remuneration disclosures comply with 
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

- examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report and the remuneration disclosures; and

- assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial 
reporting when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not 
designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was 
accurately reflected in the financial report and the remuneration disclosures. These and 
our other procedures did not include consideration or judgement of the appropriateness or 
reasonableness of the business plans or strategies adopted by the directors and management 
of the company.

Independence
We are independent of the company and the consolidated entity and have met the 
independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and the 
Corporations Act 2001. We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s 
Independence Declaration a copy of which is included in the Directors’ Report. In addition 
to our audit of the financial report and the remuneration disclosures, we were engaged to 
undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The provision of 
these services has not impaired our independence.

Audit opinion
In our opinion: 

1. the financial report of OneSteel Limited is in accordance with:

 (a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of OneSteel Limited and the 
consolidated entity at 30 June 2006 and of their performance for the year ended 
on that date; and

(ii)  complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001; and

 (b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia.

2.  the remuneration disclosures that are contained in Sections A, B, C & E of the Directors’ 
Report comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

 
Ernst & Young Craig M Jackson
  Partner

Sydney 
22 August 2006
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Unmarketable Parcels
There were 4,504 members holding less than a marketable parcel of shares in the company 
as at 11 September 2006.

Listing
The company’s shares are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange.

Substantial Shareholders
Substantial shareholders as defined by the Corporations Act 2001 (holding at least 5% of shares):
GMO Australia Limited 35,200,252 shares 6.18%
MIR Investment Management Limited 51,557,818 shares 9.06%

Unquoted Equity Securities
Options over ordinary shares issued pursuant to the OneSteel executive share/option plan:
• Number of employees participating 15
• Number of securities 460,396

Share Registry
Shareholders with queries about anything related to their shareholding should contact the 
OneSteel Share Registry on telephone 1300 364 787 or +61 3 9415 4026. Alternatively, 
shareholders may wish to write to:
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
Level 3, 60 Carrington Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Australia
or on facsimile: +61 2 8234 5050.

Number of Shareholders
There were 88,885 shareholders at 11 September 2006. There is only one class of share, ordinary fully paid shares. All issued shares carry voting rights on a one–for–one basis.

Distribution of Shareholdings at 11 September 2006
Range of Holdings Number of Shareholders % of Total Holders Number of Shares % of Total Shares

1 - 1,000 43,878 49.36 21,344,395 3.75
1,001 - 5,000 33,706 37.92 74,605,375 13.11
5,001 - 10,000 6,618 7.45 48,557,372 8.53
10,001 - 100,000 4,550 5.12 92,628,040 16.27
100,001 and over 133 0.15 332,152,718 58.34

Total 88,885 100.00 569,287,900 100.00

Twenty Largest Shareholders at 11 September 2006
Shareholder Number of Shares % of Total Shares Rank

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 62,111,868 10.91 1
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 50,125,472 8.80 2
National Nominees Limited 49,528,369 8.70 3
Cogent Nominees Pty Ltd 28,838,336 5.06 4
ANZ Nominees Limited 24,600,096 4.32 5
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 23,827,243 4.18 6
OneSteel Share Plans Pty Ltd 18,943,045 3.33 7
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 12,963,664 2.28 8
AMP Life Limited 8,064,840 1.42 9
Queensland Investment Corporation 7,232,532 1.27 10
Australian Reward Investment Alliance 5,318,944 0.94 11
RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 4,326,177 0.76 12
Argo Investments Limited 3,150,000 0.55 13
Tasman Asset Management Limited 1,804,561 0.32 14
Elise Nominees Pty Limited 1,699,572 0.30 15
Milton Corporation Limited 1,602,561 0.28 16
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 1,535,496 0.27 17
Woodross Nominees Pty Limited 1,310,511 0.23 18
Pack–Tech Pty Limited 950,000 0.17 19
Invia Custodian Pty Limited 779,219 0.14 20
Total 308,712,506 54.23

Total Issued Shares 569,287,900 100.00
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Details of individual shareholdings can be checked conveniently and simply by visiting 
OneSteel’s Share Registrar’s website at www.computershare.com and clicking on the 
Investor Centre button. For security reasons, you then need to key in your Securityholder 
Reference Number (SRN) or Holder Identification Number (HIN) plus family name and 
postcode, to enable access to personal information.

Dividends
The company proposes to pay dividends in October and April. Shareholders should retain 
for taxation purposes full details of dividend payments.

The company moved to the payment of dividends by direct credit only for Australian and 
New Zealand shareholders with effect from the first dividend payment in the 2006 year. 
The following options are available to shareholders regarding payment of dividends:

•  direct deposit to an Australian bank, building society or credit union account

• direct deposit to a New Zealand bank account

•  for shareholders registered outside of Australia and New Zealand who do not have an 
Australian or New Zealand bank account by cheque payable to the shareholder. Lost 
or stolen cheques should be reported immediately to the OneSteel Share Registry, in 
writing, to enable stop payment and replacement.

Where shareholders choose to have their dividends paid by direct deposit, payments are 
electronically credited on the dividend date and confirmed by a payment advice sent to the 
shareholder. Request forms for this service are available from the OneSteel Share Registry 
or by visiting www.computershare.com. OneSteel encourages its shareholders to avail 
themselves of the direct deposit facility. 

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
As an alternative to receiving cash dividends, eligible shareholders may elect by 
notification to the OneSteel Share Registry, in writing, to participate in the Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”). The DRP enables shareholders to use cash dividends to 
purchase fully paid OneSteel ordinary shares.

Tax File Numbers
OneSteel is required to withhold tax at the rate of 46.5% on any unfranked component 
of dividends or interest paid to investors resident in Australia who have not supplied the 
company with a tax file number (“TFN”) or exemption form. Investors are not required by 
law to provide their TFN if they do not wish to do so.

Stock Exchange Listing
OneSteel is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. All shares are recorded on the 
principal share register, which is located in New South Wales.

Internet Address
Shareholder information may be obtained from the shareholder information section of the 
OneSteel website: www.onesteel.com

Buy–back
There is no current on–market buy–back in place.

Publications
The company’s Annual Review is the main source of information for investors and is mailed 
to shareholders in October. Other sources of information, which will be available on the 
internet, are:

• the Chairman’s address to the annual general meeting

•  the half–year financial report reviewing the July–December half-year

• the announcement of the full year’s results

• statements lodged with the ASX

• webcasts of annual general meetings

•  webcasts of half–yearly/annual results presentations to fund managers and financial 
analysts

•  other presentations and briefings given to fund managers and financial analysts including 
those during site visits

•  Board and Committee charters as well as other company policies that are likely to be of 
interest to shareholders and potential investors

•  general information on the company and its activities.

Shareholders wishing to receive company information electronically via email, instead of by 
mail, may register their email address with the company’s online shareholder registry  
as follows:

• visit www.computershare.com

• click on Investor Centre

• click on Registry Service

• click on Your Shareholding

•  next, type the company name, OneSteel Limited, or simply the company code, OST

•  then, next to Check Your Securities, click the ‘Go’ button. You will then need to enter 
your personal security information; Holder Identification Number (HIN) or Securityholder 
Reference Number (SRN); family or company name and postcode; and click ‘Go’

•  from there, click on ‘Go’ for Communication Details and follow the prompts.

After you have entered your email address and selected which publications you wish to 
receive, an email will be sent to you for confirmation purposes.

When you receive it, just click on ‘Reply’ to confirm your details, then ‘Send’.

Change of Address
Issuer sponsored shareholders should notify the OneSteel Share Registry immediately, in 
writing, signed by the shareholder(s), of any change to their registered address. For added 
security, shareholders should quote their previous address and Securityholder Reference 
Number (SRN). CHESS uncertificated shareholders should advise their sponsoring broker or 
non–broker participant.

Removal from Mailing List
Shareholders who do not wish to receive the Annual Review should advise the OneSteel 
Share Registry, in writing, noting their SRN or HIN.

Change of Name
Shareholders who change their name should notify the OneSteel Share Registry, in writing, 
and attach a certified copy of a relevant marriage certificate or deed poll.
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This report has been prepared by comparing 
the 12 months to June 2002, 2003, 2004, 
2005 and 2006 Statutory Accounts with the 
pro–forma numbers for the corresponding 
periods in 2001 and 2000. The Statutory 
Accounts for the 12 months to June 2001  
do not include the trading of all the OneSteel 
Group for the 12 months as the purchase 
of assets was completed at different times 
between July and October 2000.

The pro forma numbers include the results of 
all businesses as if the assets and operations 
of all businesses spun out from BHP were 
part of the OneSteel Group from 1 July 2000 
to 30 June 2001.

The financial information presented for 
years 2000 to 2004 have not been prepared 
under Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).

The nature of the main adjustments to make 
the information comply with AIFRS include: 
-  recognition of additional provisions relating 

to rehabilitation and make good; 
-  restatement of deferred tax balances using 

the balance sheet method; 
-  recognition of the deficit in the defined 

benefits superannuation fund; 
-  consolidation of the employee share plan 

trust; and
-  recognition of derivative financial 

instruments on balance sheet at fair value 
and application of hedge accounting. 
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OneSteel

All Ords

Key Financial Statistics

12 Months Ending 30 June  AIFRS AIFRS  AGAAP AGAAP AGAAP AGAAP AGAAP % Change
A$ millions 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 06/05
      Inc Prov  

Sales Revenue 4,004.6  3,938.5  3,269.2  3,060.6  2,906.0  2,637.7  2,959.1  1.7 
Other Revenue 39.0  34.6  70.1  39.5  80.5  141.5  17.4  12.7 
Total Revenue 4,043.6  3,973.1  3,339.3  3,100.1  2,986.5  2,779.2  2,976.5  1.8 
Gross Profit 798.7  787.0  642.6  626.2  528.4  489.6  135.3  1.5 
Operating Earnings Before Interest, Tax,  
Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) 396.7  377.1  324.2  307.6  251.0  181.7  268.0  5.2 
Depreciation & Amortisation  
(excluding goodwill) (94.0) (97.5) (87.1) (86.5) (84.2) (107.0)  (3.6)
Operating Earnings Before Interest & Tax  
(EBIT) (excluding goodwill amortisation) 302.7  279.6  237.1  221.1  166.8  74.7  171.7  8.3 
Finance Costs (56.7) (53.6) (42.2) (44.5) (54.4) (61.8)  5.8 
Operating Earnings (Loss) Before Tax (EBT) 246.0  226.0  194.9  176.6  112.4  12.9  8.8 
Tax (Expense)/Benefit (60.8) (55.4) (53.4) (53.3) (39.0) 2.1   9.7 
Net Operating Profit (Loss)   
After Tax and Minorities (NOPAT) 171.6  153.1  129.1  113.8  66.0  9.1  12.1 

Operating Cash Flow 250.8  235.9  188.3  257.7  92.6  290.3  6.3 
Free Cash Flow 36.4  109.0  43.9  154.9  28.5  220.8   (66.6)
Total Assets 3,138.8  3,087.1  2,803.2  2,577.0  2,582.0  2,710.8  2,628.4  1.7 
Funds Employed 2,189.8  2,033.6  1,842.4  1,755.2  1,794.2  1,878.6  2,019.7  7.7 
Total Liabilities 1,637.2  1,698.8  1,429.8  1,292.0  1,359.4  1,594.6  1,465.9  (3.6)
Net Debt including derivatives 688.2  645.3  469.0  470.2  571.6  762.4  857.2  6.6 
Capital and Investment Expenditure 227.6  127.5  151.4  130.9  70.8  108.4  167.6  78.5 
Inventories 758.9  836.7  704.6  591.0  574.1  540.3  608.0  (9.3)

Employees 7,527  7,395  7,272  7,054  6,989  7,379  7,271  1.8 
Sales per employee $’000 532  533  450  434  416  357  407  (0.2)
Net Tangible Asset Backing, $ per share 2.16  1.95  1.93  1.77  1.69  1.81  2.03  
Operating EBIT Margin on Sales % 7.6  7.1  7.3  7.2  5.7  4.5  5.8  
Operating EBIT Return on Funds Employed % 14.4  14.2  13.3  12.5  9.1  3.8  8.5  
Operating Return on Equity % 12.9  13.1  10.7  9.8  6.3  1.3   
Gearing (net debt:net debt plus equity)  
including derivatives % 31.4  31.7  32.8  34.3  38.7  46.1   
Interest Cover, times (EBIT/Interest) 5.3  5.2  5.6  5.0  3.1  0.6   
Operating Earnings per Share (cents) 
 - based on no. of shares at year end 30.3  27.3  23.3  20.8  12.3  (6.0)   11.0 
Full-year Dividend per Share (cents) 17.0 13.5  12.0  11.0  6.5  6.0   
Dividend Payout Ratio 56.3 49.6  51.4  52.6  53.0  302.2   

Underlying Market Growth % 5.5  3.3  3.5  11.8  4.9  (8.3)  
Cost Increases 267  226  71  68  57  37   
Cost Reductions 39  47  50  56  59  50   
Revenue Enhancements 236  309  28  51  20  15   
Raw Steel Tonnes produced 1,633,696  1,349,397  1,618,855  1,624,399  1,576,650  1,438,770  1,835,822  21.1 
Tonnes Dispatched 2,287,067  2,264,051  2,159,536  2,224,139  2,176,413  2,125,073  2,667,654  1.0 
Export % of Tonnes Dispatched 9.9  4.1  4.7  3.8  7.9  13.1   

 Statutory Pro Forma
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Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources
OneSteel’s estimates of Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources presented in this report have 
been produced by Competent Persons in accordance with the current Australasian Code 
for reporting of Identified Minerals Resources and Ore Reserves (the JORC Code). Each 
Competent Person (named in the following tables) consents to the inclusion in the report of 
the matters based on their information in the form and context in which it appears.
All Resource and Reserve figures represent estimates at the end of June 2006 unless 
otherwise stated. Rounding of tonnes and grade information may result in small differences 
presented in the totals.

Ore Reserves
The table below shows OneSteel’s Iron Ore Reserves which consist of four operating deposits 
located in the South Middleback Ranges.
Grades are uncalcined and contain 2% moisture.
The 2005/06 Hematite Reserve represents a decrease of 0.7 million tonnes after depletion 
of 3.0 million tonnes due to mining. This can be attributed to a review of the Iron Duchess 
Resource and re–evaulation of the Iron Duke Pit.
The 2005/06 Iron Magnet Reserve represents a decrease of 18.1 million tonnes due to further 
resource delineation, Iron Duke/Magnet Pit redesign and increase in resource confidence. 

Whyalla (Middleback Range) Hematite Reserves      AS AT END JUNE 2006 COMPARED WITH 2005  COMPETENT PERSON

  Proved Ore Reserve Probable Ore Reserve Total Ore Reserves Total Ore Reserves OneSteel Interest 
Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade %  

Category Ore type (millions) Fe% P% (millions) Fe% P% (millions) Fe% P% (millions) Fe% P%   

Total Quantity Hematite, Goethite, Limonite,  
Minor magnetite

21.2 
 

62.7 0.06 11.0  62.2 0.06 32.2  62.5 0.06 35.8  62.4 0.06 100 H. Warries 

Whyalla (Middleback Range) Magnetite Reserves    AS AT END JUNE 2006 COMPARED WITH 2005  COMPETENT PERSON

  Proved Ore Reserve Probable Ore Reserve Total Ore Reserves Total Ore Reserves OneSteel Interest 
Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade %  

Category Ore type (millions) DTR% (millions) DTR% (millions) DTR% (millions) DTR%   

Total Quantity Magnetite 39.8 40.5 51.4 39.1 91.2 39.7 110.1 39.6 100 H Warries

Mineral Resources
The table below shows OneSteel’s in situ resource base adjacent to existing operations at a cut–off of Fe>50%, SiO2<10%, Al2O3<5% and P<0.2%. The Total Mineral Resource includes all 
resources, including those used to derive Ore Reserves. Mineral Resources that have not been used for estimation of Ore Reserves are shown separately. The 2005/06 resource change can 
be attributed to further drilling associated with Iron Magnet and reinterpretation of the Iron Duke Deposit.
Whyalla (Middleback Range) Hematite Resources AS AT END JUNE 2006     COMPARED WITH  COMPETENT PERSON

  Measured Resources Indicated Resources Inferred Resources Total Resources 2006 Total Resources 2005 One Steel Interest 
Tonnes Fe Grade Tonnes Fe Grade Tonnes Fe Grade Tonnes Fe Grade Tonnes Fe Grade %  

Category Ore type (millions) % (millions) % (millions) % (millions) % (millions) %   

Total Quantity Hematite, Goethite, Limonite,  
Minor magnetite

25.8 62.9 31.8 60.5 32.6 55.8 90.2 60.2 83 59 100 P. Leevers

Quantity excluded  
from Ore Reserves

Hematite, Goethite, Limonite,  
Minor magnetite

4.7 60.1 15.3 59.3 18.4 57.4 38.4 58.1 33.8 56.5 100 P.Leevers

The Iron Magnet Deposit is adjacent to and below the Iron Duke and Iron Duchess Deposits. The 2005/06 Resource represents an increase of 31.2 million tonnes due to infill drilling during 
the 2005/06 period.
Whyalla (Middleback Range) Magnetite Resources AS AT END JUNE 2006     COMPARED WITH  COMPETENT PERSON

  Measured Resources Indicated Resources Inferred Resources Total Resources 2006 Total Resources 2005 One Steel Interest 
Tonnes DTR Grade Tonnes DTR Grade Tonnes DTR Grade Tonnes DTR Grade Tonnes DTR Grade %  

Category Ore type (millions) % (millions) % (millions) % (millions) % (millions) %   

Total Quantity Magnetite 47 42.4 88 40.8 110 38.2 245 39.9 265 38.5 100 P.Leevers
Quantity excluded  
from Ore Reserves

Magnetite 6.7 41.3 36.9 40.2 106.7 38.1 150.3 38.8 132.7 38.4 100 P.Leevers

OneSteel - Iron Baron and South Middleback Range Ore Beneficiation Stockpiles
These are resources currently held in historically built stockpiles that will be beneficiated to yield usable ore. Ore Beneficiation commenced in the 2004/05 financial year. The Ore 
Beneficiation Stockpiles with a mean estimated grade exceeding 45% Fe that can be beneficiated to meet current Whyalla feed specifications comprise the Mineral Resources in the following 
table. Tonnes are reported before considering beneficiation yield, and grades are reported uncalcined. The estimates are valid at the end of June 2006. The 2005/06 Resource represents a 
decrease of 0.5 million tonnes due to the commencement of ore beneficiation operations.
OneSteel Ore Beneficiation Stockpiles AS AT END JUNE 2006     COMPARED WITH  COMPETENT PERSON

  Measured Resources Indicated Resources Inferred Resources Total Resources 2006 Total Resources 2005 OneSteel Interest 
Tonnes Fe Grade Tonnes Fe Grade Tonnes Fe Grade Tonnes Fe Grade Tonnes Fe Grade %  

Category Ore type (Mt dry) (% uncalcined) (Mt dry) (% uncalcined) (Mt dry) (% uncalcined) (Mt dry) (% uncalcined) (Mt dry) (% uncalcined)   

Total Quantity Hematite, Goethite, Limonite, 
Minor magnetite

4.7 53.6 3.1 52.1 13 52.00 21.2 53.5 21.7 53.5 100 P. Leevers
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DIREcTORS 
Peter J Smedley 
chairman

Geoffrey J Plummer 
managing Director

R Bryan Davis

Eileen J Doyle

colin R Galbraith

Peter G Nankervis

Dean A Pritchard

Neville J Roach

cOmPANy SEcRETARy
John m Krenich

REGISTERED OFFIcE AND  
PRINcIPAL PLAcE OF BuSINESS
OneSteel Limited 
AcN 004 410 833 
ABN 63 004 410 833

Level 40, 259 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Telephone: +61 2 9239 6666 
Facsimile: +61 2 9251 3042

internet: www.onesteel.com

SHARE REGISTRy
OneSteel Share Registry 
computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 
Level 3, 60 carrington Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Telephone: 1300 364 787 or +61 3 9415 4026 
Facsimile: +61 2 8234 5050

internet: www.computershare.com

AuDITORS
Ernst & young

STOcK ExcHANGE LISTING
OneSteel Limited shares are quoted  
on the Australian Stock Exchange

ANNuAL REvIEW AND FuLL FINANcIAL REPORT
Both the 2006 Annual Review and the Full Financial Report 
are available on the OneSteel website www.onesteel.com  
or by calling +61 2 9239 6666
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